
Sierra County Commission 
Sierra County Commission Chambers 

1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
Tuesday, June 24th, 2025 

AGENDA 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE ABLE TO WATCH AND LISTEN TO MEETING VIA: 
(http://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100068317226897) 

(https://www.youtube.com/@SierraCountyCommission) 

Call to Order: 10:00 AM Regular Meeting 

Roll Call: Travis Day-Chairman Amy Whitehead-Clerk 
James E. Paxon-Vice-Chair  Nance, Pato & Stout, LLC-Attorney 
Hank Hopkins-Commissioner Amber Vaughn-County Manager 

Pledge Of Allegiance 

New Mexico State Flag Pledge-I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico and the Zia symbol of perfect 
friendship among united cultures.  

Introduction of Guests 

I. Approval of Agenda:
II. Approval of Minutes:

A. Regular Meeting-May 20th, 2025
B. Special Meeting-June 10th,2025

III. Public Comment: Limited to 3 Minutes
IV. Consent Agenda:

A. Resolution No. 2025-45 Accounts Payable
B. Resolution No. 2025-46 Indigent Claims
C. Indigent Burial B2025-010
D. Indigent Burial B2025-011
E. Indigent Burial B2025-012
F. Indigent Burial B2025-013

V. Presentations/reports:
A. Years of Service Awards
B. Department Reports
C. Patillo, Brown, & Hill LLC-Audit Report

VI. Board of Finance:
A. May Reconciliation

VII. Old Business:
A. Amendment IGA Between Doña County and Sierra County

VIII. New Business:
A. Letter from Sierra County to Elephant Butte Regarding the Withdrawing from Sierra 

Vista Hospital JPA



B. Donation of 38 HP ProDesk Mini Desktop Computers from Lea County OEM to Sierra 
County OEM 

C. New Mexico Natural Resources Coalition  
D. Mexican Wolf-Ladder Ranch  

IX. Contracts-Agreements-Procurements: 
A. Sierra County Fairgrounds Management Agreement 
B. Work and Finance Plan between Sierra County and APHIS-WS 
C. Approval of Unauthorized Purchase: Registration Fee 
D. Fiscal Agent Agreement Between Sierra County and The Sierra County Regional 

Dispatch Authority  
E. Sierra County Regional Dispatch Authority JPA 

X. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations: 
A. Resolution No. 2025-47 CAP 26 Participation in Local Government Road Fund Program 

and Request for Match Waiver Administration by New Mexico Department of 
Transportation 

B. Resolution No. 2025-48 SB 26 Participation in Local Government Road Fund Program 
and Request for Match Waiver Administration By New Mexico Department of 
Transportation  

C. Resolution No. 2025-49 SP 26 Participation in Local Government Road Fund Program 
and Request for Match Waiver Administration  

D. Resolution No. 2025-50 Accepting and Approving the FY 2023-24 Audit 
E. Resolution No. 2025-51 Supporting the Incorporation of Ivermectin into Livestock and 

Wildlife Feeds to Combat the New World Screwworm Fly 
F. Resolution No. 2025-52 Recognizing Sugar Sand Road and Bridge as a Public 

Prescriptive Easement  
G. Resolution No. 2025-53 Adopting FY 2026-2030 Infrastructure Capital Improvement 

Plan  
XI. Executive Session (Section 10-15 E thru H) : 

Pending and Threatened Litigation : 
A. Coulter v. Sierra County  

XII. Open Session Actions from Executive Session: 
A. Direction to Staff Coulter v. Sierra County  

XIII. Adjourn 
 
 
 
Next proposed Scheduled Meeting: Regular Meeting, Tuesday, July 15th, 2025, at 10:00 AM. Items 
for the agenda must be submitted to the Sierra County Administration Office no later than 5:00pm 
on the Monday the week before the meeting. 
 
If you are an individual with a disability who is in need of a reader, amplifier, qualified sign language 
interpreter, or any other form of auxiliary aid or service to attend or participate in the hearing or 
meeting, please contact the Sierra County Manager, at 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico 87901, phone (575) 894-6215 at least one (1) week prior to the meeting or as soon as 
possible.  Public documents, including the agenda and minutes, can be provided in various accessible 
formats. Please contact the Sierra County Manager if a summary or other type of accessible format 
is needed. 

 

  



 

 
SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                          REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
May 20, 2025 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:   10:00 am Regular Meeting  
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Regular Session 
at 10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, May 20, 2025, at the Sierra County Commission 
Chambers, 1712 N Date St, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair (via telephone) 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board: Amy Whitehead 
          
 County Attorney: David Pato  
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 
 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
   
Monica Zepeda, Josh Baker, Steve Mull-Sentinel, Patrick Flores, Keith 
Whitney, Billy Neeley, Tim Kuzdrowski, Ryan Williams, Candace Chavez, 
Isaac Rivers, Taylor Gouhart, Mike Hearn, Patrice Love, Elizabeth 
Leininger, Candy Torrez, Virginia Lee, Ernie Armijo 
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A. Regular Meeting-April 22, 2025 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
May 20, 2025 
Page 2   

 

 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the minutes as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 
               
         

 
 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A.  Resolution No. 2025-36 Accounts Payable 
B.  Resolution No. 2025-37 Indigent Claims 
C. Indigent Burial B2025-008 
D. Indigent Burial B2025-009 
E. Lodgers Tax Board Fund recommendation for Kingston Ghost Museum 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS/REPORTS: 
 
A.  Years of Service award 
B.  Department Reports 
C.  The Sierra County Behavioral Health and Wellness Collaborative    
Presentation 
 

VI. BOARD OF FINANCE: 
 

A.  April Reconciliation 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the April Reconciliation as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
 

VII. OLD BUSINESS: 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 
   
 
 
 
     



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
May 20, 2025 
Page 3   

 

 
A. Appointment of NGO and Livestock representatives to CLLA 

 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Appointment as 

presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 

 
B. Petition for Road vacation VR25-001 Request to vacate a portion of 
Sixth Street in Chloride Townsite. 

 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Road Vacation as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
C. Approval of Transfer of a 2010 Ford F-150 from Sierra County 
Sheriff’s to Las Palomas EMS. 

 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Transfer as presented.  

Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 

 
D. Approval of Donation: 1 Mark Twain Boat, and 1 EZ Loader 16’ Boat 
Trailer from Eddy County to Sierra County.  

 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Donation as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
 

 
IX.  CONTRACT-AGREEMENTS-PROCUREMENTS 
 

A. Agreement between the County of Sierra and System MD-IT Upgrade 
project 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Agreement as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B. Agreement between the County of Sierra and System MD-Ongoing IT 
Services  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Agreement as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
May 20, 2025 
Page 4   

 

X. RESOLUTIONS – ORDINANCES – PROCLAMATIONS 
 

A.  Resolution No. 2025-38 A budget/line item adjustment to Fund 512 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-38 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B.  Resolution No. 2025-39 Adopting FY26 Preliminary Budget  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-39 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C.  Resolution 2025-40 Designating the location of Election Day Polling 
Places 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution 2025-40 as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D. Resolution No. 2025-41 Levying a Tax for the Sierra County Arroyo Flood 
Control District  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-41 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
E. Resolution No. 2025-42 Accepting the Donation of a Vintage Fire Truck 
from the Hillsboro Historical Society 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-42 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
F. Resolution No. 2025-43 Confirming Sierra County to Participate in the 
NM Department of Transportation Project  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-43 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
 
 
 

  XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION SECTION (10-15-E THRU H): 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
May 20, 2025 
Page 5   

 

 
   Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to go into Executive Session for 

Personnel, Real Estate, Pending and Threatened Litigation.  Commissioner 
Hopkins SECONDED the motion. Roll call vote was taken with all 
Commissioners present voting yes.   
 
            District 1 – Yes 
 District 2 – Yes 
 District 3 – Yes 
 
A. Transfer of Chloride Cemetery Property 

 
            PENDING AND THREATENED LITIGATION: 
       
            
XI. OPEN SESSION ACTIONS FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 
 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come back into Regular Session.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Roll call vote was taken, 
with all Commissioners present voting yes. 

 
A: Resolution No. 2025-44 Authorizing the Exchange of County Property 
 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-44 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
 

 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT REGULAR SIERRA COUNTY 
COMMISSION MEETING:  
 
The date and time of the next Regular Sierra County Commission Meeting 
has been scheduled for Tuesday June 24, 2025 at 10:00 A.M. at the Sierra 
County Commission Chambers 1712 N. Date Street Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico. 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to adjourn the meeting. 
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting at 11:10am. 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
May 20, 2025 
Page 6   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 20th day of May 2025. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
May 20, 2025 
Page 7   

 

 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James E Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 
 
 

   
 



 

      
          SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
        June 10, 2025 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:  10:00 am 
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Special Session at 
10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, June 10, 2025, at the Sierra County Commission 
Chambers, 1712 N Date, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board:  Amy Whitehead                                  
 
 County Attorney: Dave Pato 
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

Tim Kudrowski, Sheriff Baker, Ryan Williams, Patrice Love, Jessica Pena, 
Monica Zepeda 
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
III.  PUBLIC COMMENT-LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 

 
IV.  NEW BUSINESS 
 
A.  Emergency Ordinance/Proclamation 2025-004 Restricting the sale and use 

of fireworks in the Unincorporated areas of Sierra County. 



Sierra County Commission Special Meeting 
June 10, 2025 
Page 2   

 

 
Ryan Williams Emergency Manager presented US Drought Monitor showing 
extreme drought conditions and said that there is not enough precipitation and none 
to be expected until after July 4, 2025. He stated that conditions are just too risky 
and that almost all counties in NM have full burn bans because Public safety is the 
#1 priority. 
Sheriff Baker proposed that the Commission consider removing ground audible 
fireworks from the ordinance-stating that they don’t pose a threat and would 
increase calls to the Sheriff’s department. 
Attorney Pato agreed and stated that there are a few fireworks permitted such as 
sparklers and ground fireworks as long as you have access to water. 

 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to clarify Section 6 and add an 
amendment to say “arial” fireworks as presented.   Commissioner Hopkins 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 
voting yes. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to adjourn the meeting.  Commission Vice-
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT: 10:10 AM 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Special Meeting 
June 10, 2025 
Page 3   

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 10th day of June, 2025. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 

   
 



   

 

 

 

 

   
         

 

 
 

          
 

  

          

            

          

         

            

            

   

   

  

  

 
 

     

    
     

  





    

    
 

 

  

   

 

 
  

  
  

 

 
     

    

 

  

 

  
 

    



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 



   

     

  

    
    

 

  
  

   
   

 
  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

  
  

  
   





 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

  
 



 



  

  

     

  
   

  
  

   

  

  

   
    

 
   

   
    

 

 

  
   

 

 

  

  



  
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 





 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 

 
 

 
 



 



  

  
   

  

  
  

  
 

   

      

  

 

 
 

 
   

 

 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

            

  

    



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 



 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
  

 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

  

 



 



  

 
   

 
      

    
   

  
  

   
  

  

     

 

  

  
   

 
   

  
     

 

  
   

   
    

   
 

 
  

   

   
  

 
 

   
  

  

   

 

 



  

    

  

   
  

   

 

 

     

      

  

 

   
  
  

     

  
   

  

  
  

   

  

 

  



  
     

   

 

   

  
  

    

     

   
   

  
  

 

  

   
 

   
  

   
  

  
 



  

 
 

  
   

 
   

  
  
  

      

              

  
   

  

 

  
    

  
  

  

      



 



 





 
 

 
 



  



 

 
 



 

   

 
 

  

 

  

  

 

   

  

   
  

    



 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
Sierra County, New Mexico 

Resolution No. 2025-46

Indigent Claims 

WHEREAS, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners has received Indigent Hospital and Medical 
Claim request for those persons unable to make proper restitution for Medical Services in the amount of 
$12,448.63 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners desire to provide for the equitable and 
reasonable payment of claims, and; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby approve 
payment to those Indigent Hospital Claims in the amount of: 

Sole Community Providers in the amount of $12,448.63 

To be deducted from the proper funds appropriated in the 2024-2025 FY Budget. June 24th, 2025 

Board of County Commissioners 
Sierra County, NM 

TRAVIS DAY, CHAIRMAN 

Attest: JAMES PAXON, VICE-CHAIRMAN 

AMY WHITEHEAD WILLIAM HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 
SIERRA COUNTY CLERK 

SIERRA COUNTY INDIGENT HEALTH CARE 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 



RESOLUTION NO.  2025-45 
 
 
 
CLAIMS APPROVED FOR  $12,448.63 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VENDOR#   NAME      TOTAL   AMOUNT 
         CLAIMS  
  
5147   DEMING CLINIC CORP         2  $128.02 
853   GILA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER       1      $3,150.23 
2775   LUNA COUNTY DETENTION CENTER       4      $8,589.55 
3281   SIERRA VISTA HOSPITAL        1  $452.81 
       



©IHS Source Totals Report
Issued 06/16/25 County Of Sierra

Batch Dates 06/24/2025 through 06/24/2025
For Vendor: All Vendors

Source Description Amount Billed Amount Paid

02 Jail - In House Inmate Service 8,589.55 8,589.55
04 Jail - Hospital Out-Patient 7,242.07 3,603.04
05 Jail - Lab/X-Ray 457.03 256.04

Expenditures 16,288.65 12,448.63
Reimb/Adjustments

Grand Total 16,288.65 12,448.63

Source Totals Report Detail
Invoice # Source DOS Amount Billed Amount Paid

INMATE*2775*61 02 03/01/2025 3,516.84 3,516.84
INMATE*2775*64 02 01/01/2025 2,982.44 2,982.44
INMATE*2775*62 02 04/17/2025 238.93 238.93
INMATE*2775*62 02 04/24/2025 157.32 157.32
INMATE*2775*62 02 04/24/2025 171.59 171.59
INMATE*2775*62 02 04/03/2025 238.93 238.93
INMATE*2775*62 02 03/31/2025 112.46 112.46
INMATE*2775*62 02 03/27/2025 68.32 68.32
INMATE*2775*63 02 02/27/2025 102.93 102.93
INMATE*2775*63 02 02/27/2025 238.93 238.93
INMATE*2775*63 02 03/06/2025 80.66 80.66
INMATE*2775*63 02 02/27/2025 43.26 43.26
INMATE*2775*63 02 03/27/2025 107.26 107.26
INMATE*2775*63 02 03/20/2025 122.71 122.71
INMATE*2775*63 02 03/13/2025 22.26 22.26
INMATE*2775*63 02 03/27/2025 286.74 286.74
INMATE*2775*63 02 03/20/2025 97.97 97.97

4 invoices, 17 line items 8,589.55 8,589.55

16408*3281*1 04 05/06/2025 657.34 452.81
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 1.84 0.00
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 687.00 139.17
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 175.00 93.08
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 989.00 714.83
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 989.00 744.16
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 75.60 0.00
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 21.84 0.00
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 30.45 0.00
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 1,791.00 714.83
10734*853*1 04 02/20/2025 1,824.00 744.16

2 invoices, 11 line items 7,242.07 3,603.04

16854*5147*2 05 01/29/2025 180.00 97.33
30901*5147*1 05 04/17/2025 277.00 158.71
30901*5147*1 05 04/17/2025 0.01 0.00
30901*5147*1 05 04/17/2025 0.01 0.00
30901*5147*1 05 04/17/2025 0.01 0.00



2 invoices, 5 line items 457.03 256.04

Grand Totals 16,288.65 12,448.63

8 invoices listed.
33 line items listed.



 
    

  

 

 

 

    
     

  

  

 

  

 

   
         

  

       

  

                
              

              
   

             

               
       

 

 

  

  

 
   

    



    

     

 

    
  

     
    

     
    

  

           
            

             
            

               
            

            
            

     

             
            

 

   
  

    

 

 

  





   
   

    

  

  

 

   

   

   

   

    

     

   

        

              

                   

   

           

                   
               

               

   

   
         

  

   

    



  
        

    
    

    

        

   
   

          
        

         
         
             

       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

            
         

           
        
          

   

        
          

       

              
     

      
          

          
           

        
         
       

      
         

          

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
    

   
      

     
      

        
        
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

      

          
        

         
        

     

      

           

         

  

     

    

  



      

  

 

   

 

 
 
  

  
      

   
  

 
  

  

 

  
       

  

   
  
   

   

   
    

      

  

 

   

 
 

  

  

   
  

   

    

 
  

  
      

    

       

  
 

  

 

 
 
 

 
 

   



 
 

 

 

     

 
 

  
  

 
       

  
    

  
  

         

  
    

  
 



    

 
 

 

    
     

  

 

 

 

 
   

     

 

 
   

    

      

  

               
             

              
      

             

               
       

 

 

  

    

 
 

 



      
   

 

    
  

     
    

      
    

  

          
             

            
               

             
                 

   

               
 

   

   
  

    

 

 





      
   

    

  

 

 

  

  

   

   

   

     

 

   

        

              

                   

   

           

                  
               

               

  

 
 

   

   
        

    

     



        
    

    
    

           

   
   

   

          
        

         
          
             

       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

           
         

           
         

           
   

        
          

       

              
     

      
          

          
           

        
         
       

      
         

          

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
     

   
      

     
      

        
        
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

      

          
        

         
        

     

         

    

    

           

        

 



    

 

  

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

    
     

  
   

          

  

 
   

    

      

  

                 
               

                  
            

              
       

 

 

  

             



     

     

 

    
  

     
    

      
   

  

             
             

               
                  

             
                

              
            

              

              
           

  

   
  

     

 





      
   

   

  

 

 

    

   

   

    

     

   

                   

   

        

              

           

               

              

 

   

 
         

     

  

 

  



  
        

    
    

 

  

    

  

           

    
   

          
        

         
          
             

       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

           
         

           
        

          
   

        
          

       

              
     

      
          

          
           

        
         
       

  

      
         

          

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
     

   
      

     
      

        
        
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

       

          
        

         
        

     

          

            

      

            



      

  

  

  

 

 

  

  
       

 
   

  
 

  

  

 

  
   

  

   

  

   

  
      

    

        

  

 

  
  

 

  

   

   
  

   

    

 
 
  

   

      

   
    

  

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 

  
  

 
      

  
   

  
  

     

  
   

  
 

 

  

     

  
   

    

 
  

 

 

      



    

   

 
 

 

 

    
     

  

  

 

  

 
 

     
          

  

 
   

    

     

  

               
                
               

            

  

             

              
       

 

 
 

  

  



   

    
  

     
    

      
    

  

           
               

            
                 

             
              

             
          
            

            

             
            

  

   
  

     

 

 

 





   
   

   

 

  

 

 

  

   

   

   

    

     

    

        

              

                   

   

           

               

              

  

   

   
         

  

  



  
        

    
    

  

    

    

        

    

   

          
       

         
        
             

       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

          
         

           
        

           
   

        
          

       

              
     

      
          

          
           

        
         
       

      
         

          

          
        

          
        

     

         

                
   

    

      

            

 

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
    

   
      

     
      

        
        
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

      















  Page 1 of 1 

DAC Contract No. 22-114 
Amendment No. 1 

 
AMENDMENT TO CONTRACT 

BETWEEN DOÑA ANA COUNTY AND  
SIERRA COUNTY 

This Amendment to the above-mentioned Intergovernmental Agreement is made and entered into by and 
between Doña Ana County (hereinafter the "County") and Sierra County (hereinafter "Contractor") 
hereby referred to collectively as the "Parties". 

WHEREAS, the Parties entered the above Intergovernmental Agreement to provide housing of juvenile 
detainees at the Doña County Detention Center; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to ARTICLE 8 – AMENDMENTS of the original contract the Parties agree to a 
change in compensation for services which is hereby incorporated into the contract; and 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, it is mutually agreed upon as follows:  

 
1. Section III, Compensation, the current Juvenile prisoner daily rate of $200 per detainee per day is 

hereby increased in accordance with the prevailing rates for providing the services to $475 per 
detainee per date with an effective date of 7.1.2025. The new daily rate will remain constant from 
July 1, 2025, to June 30, 2026 (“FY 2026”). 
 

2. That all terms and conditions of the original Intergovernmental Agreement and any amendments 
not inconsistent herewith, shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

 

This Amendment shall be effective when signed by both Parties below or in counterpart, and 
photocopy, facsimile, electronic or other copies shall have the same effect for all purposes of an ink-
signed original. 
 
 
Doña Ana County 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Scott Andrews 
County Manager 
 
 
Date:__________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
 
 
 
 
Date:__________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mayor Phil Mortensen 
P.O. Box 1080 
Elephant Butte, NM 87935 
 
Dear Mayor Mortensen, 
 
I am writing to acknowledge receipt of the City of Elephant Butte’s notice dated May 30, 2025, 
indicating the City’s intention to withdraw from the Sierra Vista Hospital Joint Powers 
Commission (JPC). The notice refers to a 90-day period, at the conclusion of which the city 
expects its membership in the JPC to end. I would be appreciative if you would kindly confirm 
whether August 30, 2025, is the intended effective date of Elephant Butte's withdrawal. 
 
While I fully respect the City’s authority to re-evaluate its commitments, I regret that we didn’t 
have an opportunity to engage in dialogue before this action was taken. The presence of Elephant 
Butte on the JPC and the Hospital Governing Board has historically provided strong 
representation for your residents and valuable insight for the hospital as a whole.  I very much 
appreciate the City’s commitment to continue meeting its financial obligations, including the 
3/16th Gross Receipts Tax funding dedicated to the hospital. That continued support is both 
appropriate and commendable, recognizing that Elephant Butte residents and visitors will 
continue to depend on the services the hospital provides. 
 
I must, however, also respectfully note that, pursuant to the Joint Powers Agreement and the 
New Mexico Joint Powers Agreements Act (NMSA 1978, §11-1-3), withdrawal from the JPC is 
not self-effectuating. Section 15 of the JPA contemplates an amendment of the Joint Powers 
Agreement to remove a member, which must be approved by all participating parties and by the 
Secretary of the Department of Finance and Administration (DFA). Accordingly, the next 
appropriate step, should Elephant Butte remain determined to withdraw from hospital 
governance, would be for the City to initiate and circulate a proposed amendment to the JPA 
documenting its intended withdrawal, which can then be reviewed by all member entities and 
submitted for final approval by DFA. 
 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 
Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 
Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 



To that end, and in the interest of clarity, transparency, and preserving the working relationships 
we have built over many years, I propose a joint meeting involving the Hospital CEO and its 
attorney, representatives from the City of Elephant Butte and its attorney, the JPC Chair and 
Sierra County's legal counsel. This would offer an opportunity for the parties to discuss the 
procedural and practical implications of the City’s proposed withdrawal and provide space to 
explore whether continued participation may still serve the shared interests of all parties and the 
community. 
 
In the meantime, I hope Elephant Butte’s representatives on the JPC will attend the upcoming 
meeting scheduled for June 19, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. in the Hospital Board Room. Their continued 
participation during this period of transition, or reconsideration, would be greatly appreciated. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. I remain hopeful that with thoughtful discussion, we 
can arrive at a solution that best reflects the community needs we all strive to serve. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
_________________________ 
Travis Day  
Sierra County, Commission 
Chair  
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Jim Paxon  
Sierra County, SVH JPC Chair  

















FAIRGROUNDS MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Management Agreement is entered this ____day of __________, 2025, by and between the 
Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, New Mexico on behalf of Sierra County 
(hereafter “the County”) and the Sierra County Fair Association, Inc., a New Mexico Not-For-
Profit corporation (hereafter “the Association”).  

 WHEREAS, the County is the owner of the Sierra County Fairgrounds at 2953 South 
Broadway, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico and all improvements to real property situated 
thereon; and,  

 WHEREAS, the county desires that the Sierra County Fairgrounds (hereafter “the 
Fairgrounds”) be operated, maintained and managed for maximum use and enjoyment of the 
residents of Sierra County; and,   

 WHEREAS, heretofore the Association has operated the Fairgrounds in conjunction with 
the County and has done so in a manner that has served the best interests of the County and its 
residents.   

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual promises hereinafter 
set forth, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows:   

1. Management Responsibility 
 
The Association agrees to maintain, operate, and manage the Fairgrounds on behalf of 
the County for the term, and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth.  
 
The Association agrees to maintain its Not-for-Profit Status with the New Mexico 
Secretary of State in good standing. 
 

2. Term 
 
The initial term of this agreement shall be for a period of ten (10) years and shall 
commence on the date of approval of this agreement by the County and shall expire on 
the _____ day of ________ 2033.  Thereafter, this agreement may be renewed for an 
additional term or for such shorter period as agreed to by the Association and the 
County in writing.   
 
 
 
 



3. Duties of the Association 
 
The Association shall be responsible for the operation, management and maintenance 
of the Fairgrounds, including but not limited to the following specific duties: 
 

A. Work with the County to ensure that the Fairgrounds are at all times 
maintained in a clean, safe, and sanitary manner.  

B. Work with the County to provide for the regular maintenance, upkeep and 
repair of the Fairgrounds and all improvements thereon.  

C. Sponsor, at the discretion of the Association and subject to its articles and 
bylaws, such public events and displays as the Association may determine from 
time to time are in the best interest of the County and its residents.  

D. Sponsor and manage the annual Sierra County Fair. 
E. Subject to the approval of the Sierra County Commission, impose consistent 

and reasonable fees for the private use of the Fairgrounds, which fees are to be 
maintained in a segregated account exclusively for the maintenance and 
improvement to the Fairgrounds.   

F. Oversee the use and enjoyment of the Fairgrounds by other public and private 
organizations who from time to time may desire to use the Fairgrounds.  

G. The Association shall make recommendations to the County for capital 
improvements to the Fairgrounds. To be considered for inclusion in the annual 
County budget or Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan (ICIP), all such 
requests must be submitted in writing to the County Manager’s Office no later 
than March 15th of each calendar year. 

H. Construct buildings and improvements to the Fairgrounds only with the prior 
written approval of the County.  
 

4. Defense/Indemnification; Insurance 
 
The Association shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the County of Sierra from 
all actions, proceeding, claims, demands, costs, damages, attorneys’ fees and all other 
liabilities and expenses of any kind from any source which may arise out of the 
performance of this Agreement, caused by the negligent act or the negligent failure to 
act of the Association, its officers, employees, servants, subcontractors or agents, 
resulting in injury or damage to persons or property during the time when the 
Association or any officer, agent, employee, servant or subcontractor thereof has or is 
performing services pursuant to this Agreement.  In the event that any action, suit or 
proceeding related to the services performed by the Association or any officer, agent, 
employee, servant or subcontractor under this Agreement is brought against the 
Contractor, the Contractor shall, as soon as practicable but no later than two (2) days 



after it receives notice thereof, notify the legal counsel of the County of Sierra and the 
New Mexico County Insurance Authority by certified mail. 
 
The Association will obtain insurance in a minimum amount of three million dollars 
($3,000,000), adjusted annually commensurate with the cost of living as provided by 
NMSA 1978, Section 41-4A-6(C) (2021), naming Sierra County as an additional 
insured.  The Association shall annually provide the County a declarations page 
evidencing proof of such coverage.  The County expressly does not waive its 
protections under the Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Section 41-4-1 et. seq., or the 
Civil Rights Act, NMSA 1978, Section 41-4A-1 et seq.   
 
The Association additionally agrees to maintain fire, theft, casualty, liability insurance 
satisfactory to the County, naming the County as an additional insured as the owner of 
the Fairgrounds.   
 

5. Liquor License 
 
Notwithstanding the right and duty of the Association to permit and oversee the use of 
the Fairgrounds and to make all management decisions in connection therewith, the 
use, service or sale of alcoholic beverages shall be prohibited at the Fairgrounds unless 
approved by resolution of the County thirty days prior to the date of service or sale, and 
unless all provisions of applicable state law are adhered to in connection therewith.  See 
NMSA 1978, Section 60-6A-12. 
 

6. Nondiscrimination 
 
Notwithstanding the right of the Association to develop and implement such rules and 
regulations as it may determine in its judgment are necessary to operate and maintain 
the Fairgrounds in the interest of the County and its residents, the Association shall not 
discriminate against any person, organization, employee or other person because of 
race, creed, color, sex or national origin, and in all contracts in connection with the 
Fairgrounds shall require a similar representation from persons doing business with the 
Association or at the Fairgrounds.   
 

7. Lease Agreements of Fairgrounds Property 
 
Rental agreements for use of Fairgrounds Property will be handled by the Association 
notwithstanding the County’s Building Usage Policy.  The Association will require 
Tenant Users Liability Insurance Program (TULIP) from renters when appropriate 
and otherwise collect, assess, and spend usage fees as compensation for this 
Agreement. 



 
8. Compliance with Laws and Ordinances 

 
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this agreement, the Association in exercising 
the rights, duties and responsibilities granted by this agreement, shall comply with all 
applicable local, state and federal laws, ordinances and regulations.  
 

9. Assignment  
 
The rights, duties and responsibilities of the Association pursuant to this agreement 
shall not be assigned by the Association to any other person or organization except with 
the prior written consent of the County.   
 

10. Abandonment of Premises 
 
The Association shall not vacate or abandon the Fairgrounds or permit any condition 
to arise which might, in the judgment of the County, lead to the damage or destruction 
of the Fairgrounds or the improvements thereon.  
 

11. Improvements 
 
The Association and the County hereby stipulate and agree that the real property 
improvements and fixtures listed in Exhibit A attached hereto, which constitute part of 
the real estate, are the sole and exclusive property of the County. Any future real 
property improvements or fixtures constructed at the Fairgrounds shall also become 
the property of the County.  The County shall be responsible for all capital 
improvements, including but not limited to major mechanical repairs exceeding 
$5,000.00.  These will be managed and funded solely by the County.  The Association 
shall be responsible for the day-to-day maintenance of the facilities, including routine 
repairs, cleaning, and upkeep of the buildings, grounds, and minor equipment. The 
Association shall consult with the County and obtain prior written permission before 
making any alterations, remodeling, or improvements to the real property, including 
the addition of new fixtures. Any such alterations or improvements shall remain the 
property of the County. 
 
 Notwithstanding the above, all personal property of the Association, including 
equipment, supplies, parts, livestock, and other items owned by the Association, shall 
remain the property of the Association, regardless of its location on the Fairgrounds. 
 

12. Termination  



 This Agreement may be terminated by either of the parties hereto upon written notice 
delivered to the other party at least sixty (60) days prior to the intended date of termination.  
A notice of termination shall not nullify or otherwise affect either party’s liability for pre-
termination defaults under or breaches of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
this Agreement may be terminated immediately upon written notice to the Association if the 
Association becomes unable to perform the services contracted for, as determined by the 
County or if, during the term of this Agreement, the Association or any of its officers, 
employees or agents is indicted for fraud, embezzlement, or other crime due to misuse of 
government funds or due to the Appropriations paragraph herein. This provision is not 
exclusive and does not waive the County’s other legal rights and remedies caused by the 
Association’s Default/Breach of this Agreement.  

13. Amendment or Modification 
 
This Agreement may be amended or modified in writing by mutual agreement of the 
Association and the County provided that any such writing is approved by the Board of 
County Commissioners at a regularly scheduled meeting of the County Commission.   
 

14. Annual Report 
 
The President of the Association shall make an annual report to the County.   
 

15. Invalidity of Prior Agreements  
 
This Agreement supersedes all prior contracts or agreements, either oral or written, 
that may exist between the parties with reference to the services described herein and 
expresses the entire agreement and understanding between the parties with reference to 
said services.   
 
APPROVED, ADOPTED AND PASSED this ___________ day of ____________ 
2025.  
 
 
 
     BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
     SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

             
 

      
Travis Day, Commissioner 
      



        
 
             
Jim Paxon, Commissioner 
 
 
 
      
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
ATTEST 
 
 
_____________________________      
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY FAIRGROUNDS ASSOCIATION, INC. 

        
 
 
BY: ___________________________   

       President    
       
 
 

 



Agreement Number: 25-73-35-2390-RA 
WBS: AP.RA.RX35.73.0994 

 
 

WORK AND FINANCIAL PLAN 
between 

 SIERRA COUNTY  
and 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 
ANIMAL AND PLANT HEALTH INSPECTION SERVICE 

WILDLIFE SERVICES (APHIS-WS) 
for 

July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026 
 

 
Pursuant to Cooperative Service Agreement No. 24-73-35-2390-RA between the county of Sierra 
and APHIS-WS, this Work Plan defines the objectives, plan of action, resources and budget for the 
maintenance of an Integrated Wildlife Damage Management (IWDM) program to protect residents, 
property, livestock, crops, and natural resources from damage caused by predators and other 
nuisance wildlife to be conducted from July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026. 
 
USDA-WS is a federal agency with a broad mission that includes carrying out wildlife damage 
management activities. USDA-WS has continuously maintained an effective IWDM program to 
resolve conflicts with wildlife throughout New Mexico, including Sierra County. USDA-WS is 
available and qualified to conduct wildlife damage management services as necessary to accomplish 
the County’s goals. 
 
 
I. OBJECTIVES/GOALS 
 
Wildlife Services’ overall goal is to maintain a biologically-sound IWDM program to assist 
property owners, businesses, private citizens, and governmental agencies in resolving wildlife 
damage problems and conduct control activities in accordance with applicable Federal, State and 
local laws and regulations.  Assistance may be in the form of providing technical assistance or 
direct control activities.  Recommendations and control activities will ensure long term solutions 
and incorporate the Integrated Wildlife Damage Management approach.   
 
The scope of this program is limited only by the financial resources allocated by the cooperator and 
APHIS-WS.  Although successful elimination of any specific threat is not guaranteed, all reasonable 
efforts will be made to resolve or mitigate human-wildlife conflicts within financial and regulatory 
constraints. 
 
 
II. PLAN OF ACTION 
 
To accomplish this goal, the following general field services will be provided: 
 
Non-lethal application – this will be the primary consideration.  
  
Technical Assistance – WS will provide technical support to Sierra County on other issues that 



Agreement Number: 25-73-35-2390-RA 
WBS: AP.RA.RX35.73.0994 

 
may impact predatory and/or nuisance species control including habitat modifications, response 
design, and recommendations through demonstration and instruction of wildlife damage prevention 
and/or control techniques 
 
Predator Identification & Removal - when livestock, crop or natural resource damage is verified  
 
Nuisance Wildlife Removal - when property damage is verified  
 
Removal of Wildlife Displaying Aggressive Behavior - causing actual injury to county residents.  
 
Outreach – include meeting with the constituents of the county, school group demonstrations, and 
predator/damage awareness training.  
 
To provide these basic services, APHIS-WS will: 
 

1. Assign one Wildlife Biological Technician per the period of performance for this Work 
Financial Plan averaging at least 1040 hours per year, distributed among direct control 
activities, technical assistance, USDA/WS-required administrative tasks, and annual leave.   

 
2. Procure and maintain a vehicle, tools, supplies, and other specialized equipment as deemed 

necessary by the State Director to accomplish the objectives identified in this plan. 
 

3. Implement at least two attempts to resolve requests for assistance using non-lethal methods, 
on site and on separate days, before resorting to lethal methods, unless the animal poses an 
imminent threat to human health and safety, property, livestock, companion animals or is 
part of confirmed depredation(s). 

 
4. Safely & professionally utilize approved wildlife damage management tools/equipment 

including firearms (including high-pressure air rifles), advanced optics, assorted snaring 
devices, trailing hounds, all-terrain vehicles, foot-hold traps for the protection of endangered 
species and public safety, cage-type & other specialized traps, deterrent methods/devices 
(including pyrotechnics), Environmental Protection Agency approved toxicants (including 
euthanasia drugs), night vision equipment and electronic calling devices.    

 
a. Field Specialists will ensure that the most effective, efficient, and humane tools will 

be utilized. All activities will be conducted in a safe manner. 
 

b. Equipment will be maintained in good working order to help prevent accidents 
and/or hazardous situations. 
 

c. Foot-hold traps with offset jaws will utilize pan tension devices sufficient to reduce 
the likelihood of capturing non-target species, be attached to an electronic 
monitoring device intended to notify Wildlife Services when a foot-hold trap is 
sprung. If such a device is not attached, Wildlife Services, Volunteers or the 
Requester will inspect each trap within twenty-four hours or less. 

 
d. When M-44 toxicants are used, at least two, three-foot tall warning signs in English 



Agreement Number: 25-73-35-2390-RA 
WBS: AP.RA.RX35.73.0994 

 
and in Spanish shall be placed within five feet of the M-44 device to notify the 
public that poisonous devices are in the area, to alert them of the toxic nature of 
M-44’s, and warn of their danger to pets.   

 
5. Conduct all control activities with trained USDA-WS employees and volunteers. 

 
a. Technical Assistance may be in the form of recommendations for implementing 

various non-lethal techniques.  Official USDA/WS pamphlets and/or handouts may 
be used to convey this information to the public. 
 

b. Direct Control activities may include, but are not limited to the monitoring, trapping, 
dispersal, and shooting of known and potential predators or nuisance wildlife. 

 
6. Wildlife services shall submit quarterly reports to the county detailing the following: 

 
a. The type of land upon which contractual activities were carried on, such as BLM, 

county, municipal, military, private, or state, and the identity of the  
requesting entity other than the names of individuals, and the number of person-day 
visits per entity, 

 
b. The number of hours worked per employee, 

 
c. The number and types of species captured and by what method, and the number and 

types of species euthanized and by what method, 
 

d. The number and types of non-targeted, unintentional species euthanized, if any, 
 

e. The number and types of species re-located, freed or dispersed, 
 

f. A damage summary, including reported and verified losses for 
 

i. Agriculture, 
ii. Health and safety. 

iii. Property, including animals, landscape and structures, 
 

g. Number of outreach efforts by species provided or supported for the purpose of 
educating the public on how to coexist with wildlife and manage property in such a 
way to avoid wildlife conflicts, and the estimated or actual number of people 
reached, 
 

h. The number of requests for assistance by species and the reasons therefor, such as 
livestock protection, health, human safety, nuisance animal, or property protection, 
and, 
 

i. The results of any blood tests taken by species 
 



Agreement Number: 25-73-35-2390-RA 
WBS: AP.RA.RX35.73.0994 

 
 
USDA-WS will cooperate with the New Mexico Department of Game and Fish, the U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service, County and local city governments, and other entities to ensure compliance with 
applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations. 
 
 
III. PROCUREMENT 
 
Purchase of supplies, equipment and miscellaneous needs including salaries will be made by 
APHIS-WS.  All expenditures will be processed through APHIS’s Financial Management 
Modernization Initiative (FMMI) system and charged to the Cooperator as described in the 
Financial Plan. 
 
IV. STIPULATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

1. All operations shall have the joint concurrence of USDA-WS and Sierra County and shall be 
under the direct supervision of USDA-WS. All operations will adhere to the specific work 
financial plan requirements required by both USDA-WS and Sierra County. USDA-WS 
will conduct the program in accordance with its established operating policies and all 
applicable state and federal laws and county regulations and requirements.  
 

2. Control on Public Lands: An Agreement for Control of Animal Damage on Non-private 
Property (WS Form 12 A) or an appropriate NEPA document will be executed between 
USDA-WS and the public land administrator(s)/manager(s) before any USDA-WS work is 
conducted. 

  
3. USDA-WS will use only USDA-WS employees and volunteers. All USDA-WS personnel 

will follow WS Directive 2.510, which prohibits benefiting personally from any animals(s) 
whole or in part, taken while conducting official duties.  
 

4. The program will be supervised by District Supervisor Rudy Fajardo (575) 527-6980. 
Monitoring and authoritative oversight will be by the WS, New Mexico State Director, Jon 
Grant (505) 346-2640.  

 
5. In the absence of a finalized county budget, a letter of intent must be provided pending final 

budget approval. The cooperative Wildlife Services Program, due to Congressional Federal 
appropriations, law cannot continue unless a mutual agreement is negotiated by June 30, 
2025. 

 
 

6. COST ESTIMATE FOR SERVICES 
 
USDA-WS shall submit quarterly bills for actual costs incurred to USDA-WS for performance of  
 
work as delineated in the Work/Financial Plan, not to exceed $46,900.00 annually.  Such costs may 



Agreement Number: 25-73-35-2390-RA 
WBS: AP.RA.RX35.73.0994 

 
include but are not limited to salaries/benefits/employees’ recognition, vehicle use, supplies, 
equipment and USDA overhead. An estimate itemization of expenses are listed below; however, 
funds may be distributed between itemized categories as needed. 
 
 
Cost Element  Cost to 

Cooperator 
Cost Share 
(Paid by 
Federal 

Appropriations) 

Full Cost 

Personnel Compensation  $         34,276.05   $      26,794.95   $        61,071.00  
Travel  $                      -     $        1,109.00   $          1,109.00  
Vehicles  $                      -     $        7,800.00   $          7,800.00  
Other Services  $              409.41   $           800.00   $          1,209.41  
Supplies and Materials  $                      -   $        2,000.00   $          2,000.00  
Equipment  $           2,200.11   $           500.00   $          2,700.11  

     

Subtotal (Direct Charges)  $         36,885.57   $      39,003.95   $        75,889.52  

     
Pooled Job Costs 11.00%  $           4,057.41   NA   $          4,057.41  
Indirect Costs 16.15%  $           5,957.02   NA   $          5,957.02  

Agreement Total                 $         46,900.00   $      39,003.95   $        85,903.95  
Percentage Cost Share  55% 45% 100% 

     
The distribution of the budget from this Financial Plan may vary as necessary to accomplish the 
purpose of this agreement, but may not exceed: $85,903.95 

 
In accordance with the Debt Collection Improvement Act (DCIA) of 1996, bills issued by WS are 
due and payable within 30 days of receipt.  The DCIA requires that all debts older than 120 days be 
forwarded to debt collection centers or commercial collection agencies for more aggressive action.  
Debtors have the option to verify, challenge and compromise claims, and have access to 
administrative appeals procedures which are both reasonable and protect the interests of the United 
States. 
                                 
The financial point of contact for this Work Plan/Financial Plan is Patsy Baca, Budget Analyst 
(505) 346-2640.  This plan has been approved by the USDA APHIS WS Western Regional Office 
for use in the State of New Mexico for cost-share agreements.  Copies of this approval are available 
upon request. 
 
Sierra County Point of Contact: 
Amber Vaughn (County Manager)  (575) 894-6215 
Becky Mena (Finance Director)  (575) 894-6215 
 
 



Agreement Number: 25-73-35-2390-RA 
WBS: AP.RA.RX35.73.0994 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COMISSIONERS 
Tax Identification Number:  856000251 
 
 
 
_______________________________               ___________________ 
Amber Vaughn      Date                  
County Manager       
 
 
 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 
ANIMAL AND PLANT HEALTH INSPECTION SERVICE 
WILDLIFE SERVICES 
Albuquerque, NM 
Tax Identification Number:  41-0696271       
 
 
 
_______________________________               ___________________    
Jon Grant                            Date 
State Director, New Mexico          
   
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________               ___________________    
Wendy Anderson  
Western Region, New Mexico    Date      
 



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPROVAL OF UNAUTHORIZED PURCHASE – REGISTRATION FEE 

 
June 24th, 2025 
 

Pursuant to the Sierra County Procurement Code section 2.45 relating to unauthorized 
purchases, the county is requesting commission approval for the following unauthorized 
purchase: 
 

Date  - 4/7/25 
Purchase - NMC 88th Annual Conference Registration 
Invoice#  - AC2024-042025-0328-0234 
Total Cost  - $325.00  
G/L#   - 402-50-2115 (Registration Fees) 

 Purchaser  - Billy Neeley 
 

2.45 UNAUTHORIZED PURCHASES  
…  All unauthorized purchases shall be taken to the Board of County 
Commissioners which, at its discretion, may approve an unauthorized 
purchase for payment.  Payment can only be made on an unauthorized 
purchase after it has been reviewed and approved pursuant to this section. 

 
Payment was made on 4/7/25 for the Annual Conference in June, but a Purchase Order 

was not issued prior to the payment being issued. Please see the attached document for additional 
information relating to the purchase, as well as the steps taken by the requesting department to 
ensure compliance with the procurement code in the future. 
 
 
 
 
-Isaac Rivers 
Sierra County Administration 
Chief Procurement Officer 
 
  

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

Thomas Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

 

 
 
 

Travis Day,   
 Commission Chair 

575-894-6215 

James E. Paxon, 
Commission Vice-Chair 

575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215  

Joshua Baker 
Sheriff 

575-894-9150 

Amber Vaughn 
County Manager 

575-894-6215 
1712 N Date St. Suite D 

Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 
 



2 | P a g e  
 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

APPROVED, ADOPTED AND PASSED on this 24th day of JUNE, 2025.  

 

 

______________________________________ 

Travis Day, Commissioner Chair 

 

______________________________________ 

James E. Paxon, Vice- Chair 

 

______________________________________ 

Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 

 

Attest: 

_________________________________ 

Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 

 

Sierra County Chief Procurement Officer: 

By: ___________________________________ Date: _________________ 

Isaac Rivers 
Sierra County Chief Procurement Officer 
 

 



FISCAL AGENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN SIERRA COUNTY AND THE SIERRA 

COUNTY REGIONAL DISPATCH AUTHORITY 

This Fiscal Agent Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into this ____ day of __________, 
2025, by and between the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, New Mexico 
("County"), and the Sierra County Regional Dispatch Authority, an independent 
governmental entity organized under the laws of the State of New Mexico ("SCRDA"). 

WHEREAS, the County is authorized under NMSA 1978, Sections 4-37-1 and 4-38-1, to 
enter into agreements necessary to carry out its statutory responsibilities and to promote 
the health, safety, and welfare of its residents; 

WHEREAS, SCRDA requires the County to serve as its fiscal agent to receive and expend 
public funds; 

WHEREAS, the County has adopted a Fiscal Agent Policy by resolution on April 18, 
2023, outlining the terms under which it will provide fiscal agent services for qualifying 
governmental entities; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained 
herein, the parties agree as follows: 

1. PURPOSE 

The County shall serve as the fiscal agent for SCRDA in connection with the receipt, 
administration, and expenditure of SCRDA funds. 

2. OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY 

A. The County shall manage the procurement and contracting process for the SCRDA 
in accordance with the New Mexico Procurement Code and Sierra County 
Procurement Regulations. 

B. The County Finance Department reviews SCRDA’s financial transactions to ensure 
they comply with County and State financial policies. 

C. The County shall ensure all expenditures comply with applicable requirements and 
state law. 

D. The County shall receive and disburse funds on behalf of SCRDA but shall not be 
liable for any over-expenditure or misallocation caused by SCRDA’s failure to 
adhere to applicable requirements. 

E. The County shall provide general personnel management assistance to SCRDA. 

3. OBLIGATIONS OF SCRDA 

A. SCRDA shall pay to the County an annual fiscal agent fee in the amount of 
$10,000.00 on or before September 30th, and on each anniversary thereafter. 



4. TERM AND TERMINATION 

This Agreement shall become effective upon execution and shall remain in effect unless 
terminated by either party upon thirty (30) days’ written notice. Obligations incurred prior 
to termination shall remain enforceable. 

5. LIABILITY 

Each party shall be solely responsible for its own acts and omissions and those of its 
officers, employees, and agents. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the 
immunities and limitations of liability under the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 

6. AMENDMENT 

This Agreement may only be amended by mutual written agreement of the parties, 
approved by the Sierra County Board of County Commissioners and the SCRDA 
governing body. 

7. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This document contains the entire agreement between the parties. Any prior agreements or 
understandings, whether oral or written, are superseded. 

8. NOTICES 

• To the County: 
Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
Sierra County 
1712 N. Date St. Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 

• To SCRDA: 
Michelle Atwell  
Sierra County Regional Dispatch Authority 
1712 N. Date Street Suite G 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 
written above. 

 

 

 

SIERRA COUNTY: 



By: ______________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman 
Board of County Commissioners 

Date: ____________________________ 

SIERRA COUNTY REGIONAL DISPATCH AUTHORITY: 

By: ______________________________ 
Michelle Atwell, SCRDA 911 Director 

Date: ____________________________ 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 

 



1  

JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT 
SIERRA COUNTY REGIONAL DISPATCH AUTHORITY 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this 18th, day of June, 2025, by and between the 
COUNTY OF SIERRA (County), a political subdivision; the CITY OF TRUTH OR 
CONSEQUENCES (City/T or C), a municipal corporation; the CITY OF ELEPHANT 
BUTTE (City/Elephant Butte), a municipal corporation, and the VILLAGE OF 
WILLIAMSBURG (Village), a municipal corporation; and supersedes and replaces 
the previous agreement dated August 4th, 2015. 

 
The purpose of the Agreement is to provide intergovernmental cooperation between 
the County, the two (2) Cities, and the Village, in creating and funding the 11Sierra 
County Regional Dispatch Authority" ("SCRDA") a public safety answering point 
(PSAP) for the centralized dispatching of area law enforcement and emergency 
services, and to allow entry by other political subdivisions or municipal corporations 
into this Joint Powers Agreement. The parties to this agreement understand that 
providing emergency 911 dispatch services by SCRDA as a PSAP is necessary to 
provide for the health, welfare and citizens of their respective agencies. 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to cooperate with each other to the fullest extent allowed by 
law in order to establish and provide for a centralized communications center to expedite 
and improve public safety related communications dispatch functions in all political 
subdivisions jurisdictions; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is anticipated that this effort will promote increased efficiency in providing 
for the health, safety and welfare of all the citizens of Sierra County and visitors to the 
county and that it is in the best interest of the community to establish a consolidated and 
centralized PSAP communications center such as SCRDA; and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties are public agencies and are authorized by Section 11-1-1 et seq. 
NMSA 1978, and NMSA 1978, Section 63-9D-4(B) (2005), to enter into this agreement as 
the enhanced 911 customer; and 

 
WHEREAS, the 2010 JPA and earlier versions of the JPA contemplated that the member 
entities would have primary responsibility for funding SCRDA, with each entity's 
contribution being stated in specified dollar amounts in those JPA's; and 



2  

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Commission has adopted Ordinance No. 14-006, providing 
for a Countywide Emergency Communications and Emergency Medical and Behavioral 
Health Services Tax pursuant to state law, said ordinance and tax being approved by the 
voters at the November, 2014 general election; and 

 
WHEREAS, the gross receipts tax adopted by the county and approved by the voters is 
intended to provide the primary source of revenue for SCRDA with the member entities 
providing the balance of revenue necessary after taking into account all available funding 
sources. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

1.1 Pursuant to the provisions of the Joint Powers Agreements Act, being 
NMSA 1978, Sections 11-1-1 et seq., and the Enhanced 911 Act, being 
NMSA 1978, Sections 63-9 D-1 et seq., the parties agree that a separate 
legal entity, known as SCRDA, shall be organized and empowered to 
exercise the common power as set forth herein. 

 
1.2 The region to which the SCRDA will provide communications services 

shall be the incorporated and unincorporated areas of Sierra County, New 
Mexico. 

 
1.3 The SCRDA shall operate a combined communications/dispatch center to 

serve the emergency services located in Sierra County, including, but not 
limited to, law enforcement, fire, EMS, and after hour utilities. 

2.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS (SCRDA Board) 

 
2.1 The activities of the SCRDA shall be governed by a six (6) member board, 

consisting of a member of the governing body of the County of Sierra or 
its designee, a member of the governing body of the City of Truth or 
Consequences or its designee, a member of the governing body of the 
Village of Williamsburg or its designee, a member of the governing body of 
the City of Elephant Butte or its designee, the City of Truth or Consequences 
Chief of Police or his/her designee and the Sierra County Sheriff or his/her 
designee. The Chairman of the SCRDA Board is entitled to vote, though 
will reserve the right to exercise voting privileges to a tie breaking vote. 
Other agencies, such as contractual public safety agencies, may serve as 
associate members of the SCRDA Board with no voting powers. 

 
2.1.1 Board members are subject to the Governmental Conduct Act (NMSA 

1978, Section 10-16-1 et. seq), as well as the member's appointing entities 
ordinances, regarding Governmental conduct. 



3  

2.1.2 A public safety agency that has a contractual agreement with SCRDA may 
designate an ex-officio, non-voting, member of the Board according to the 
terms of the agreement. 

 
2.1.3 The Board shall elect a Chair, Vice-Chair, and such other officers as it 

deems necessary from among its regular members. 
 

2.1.4 The Chair, or other officer acting in the Chair's place, shall have the same 
voting privileges as other regular members. 

 
2.1.5 The Board shall determine the time and place of its meetings and in the 

manner of calling regular and special meetings in accordance with the 
provisions of the New Mexico Open Meetings Act. 

2.2 The powers and duties of the Board shall be to: 
 

a) Hire the Director of SCRDA; 
 

b) Establish and adopt by-laws and internal rules, regulations and 
policies as it deems necessary to conduct the affairs of SCRDA, 
including, but not limited to, personnel matters; 

c) Adopt and maintain its own personnel policy; 
 

d) Establish a fiscal agent to be approved by the SCRDA Board; 
 

e) Prepare and submit for approval an annual budget to the Parties of 
this Agreement. The preliminary budget shall be completed in 
February annually so the member entities may have the information 
for their budgeting process; 

f) Revise the budget based on pledged (i.e. budgeted) and actual 
received receipts from the members of this agreement, contracts, 
grants, donations, and other sources of funding that were unknown 
or unanticipated at the time of budget preparation and approval;. 

 
g) Submit a quarterly activity report to the SCRDA Board, Entities and 

Members of the JPA; assure proper management and control of 
finances and property of SCRDA; 

 
h) Acquire and approve all appropriate insurance contracts for 

coverage to protect the interests of the SCRDA and the parties to 
this Agreement, including but not limited to worker's 
compensation, general liability, unemployment compensation, and 
property damage. Liability insurance policies shall be reviewed on 
an annual basis and coverage will be increased when necessary. 



4  

Copies of the insurance coverage shall be provided or made 
available to the parties to this agreement annually; 

 
j) Prepare and approve applications for grants. Copies of all grants 

proposed for application shall be submitted to the fiscal agent for 
approval SCRDA will submit board and fiscal agent approved 
grants. Grants will be administered by the Director; and, 

 
k) Enter into contracts, memoranda of understanding and other 

agreements with other governmental, quasi-governmental and 
contractual public safety agencies as necessary for the operation of 
SCRDA. 

 
2.3 The SCRDA Board shall not involve itself in the day-to-day operations 

of SCRDA, except as outlined above. The Director shall be in charge 
of the day-to-day operation of SCRDA. The Director shall be an 
exempt executive employee. The terms and conditions of the 
Director's employment shall be based upon a written Agreement 
approved by the SCRDA Board. 

 
2.4 The SCRDA Board shall conduct an annual review of the Director’s 

performance as outlined in the policies and procedures. 
 

2.5 SCRDA Board will develop a Standard Operating Guideline for Data 
Sharing. 

 
3.0 THE DIRECTOR DUTIES 

3.1 The Director shall be responsible for: 
a) Day-to-day operations; 
b) Reporting to the SCRDA Board on all SCRDA operations; 
c) Enforcing and carrying out all rules and regulations and policies 

enacted by the SCRDA Board; 
d) Performing such duties as outlined in the personnel policies and 

procedures; 
e) Providing the Director's annual "Scope of Work11 document at 

the May SCRDA Board meeting for the Board for consideration. 

3.2 SCRDA "Standard Operating Guidelines" shall be in place, but 
continually updated and approved by the SCRDA Board. 

 
3.3 No SCRDA Personnel shall be required to perform any administrative 

duties for any emergency provider. 



 

4.0 PERSONNEL 
 

4.1 All SCRDA personnel shall be employees of SCRDA and not 
employees of the fiscal agent. 

 
4.2 The Fiscal Agent will be responsible for housing all payroll and benefits 

documentation for SCRDA employees. 
 

5.0 FINANCES AND BUDGETING 
 
 

5.1 The fiscal agent shall collect all revenues accruing to and make all 
disbursements for the SCRDA, including providing a monthly expense and 
revenue report. 

5.2 Budget Process. 
 

5.2.1 Revenue Sources. SCRDA derives revenue from different sources, which 
may be added to or removed from time to time. At the current time, revenue 
sources are as follows: 

 
• Sierra County Emergency Communications and Emergency Medical 

and Behavioral Health Services Tax, Ordinance No. 14- 006, 
pursuant to NMSA 1978, § 7-20E-22, in the maximum amount of ¼ 
percent; 

 
• State of New Mexico E-911 grant funds, pursuant to NMSA 1978, 

§§ 63-9D-1 et seq. 
 

• Member entity contributions; and 
 

• Miscellaneous contracts and fees. 
 

5.2.2 Budget Preparation. The Board shall prepare a proposed budget for 
presentation to the member entities in a timely manner each fiscal year. The 
proposed budget shall include projected revenues from all non- member 
entities, including, but not limited to, those sources listed in section 5.2.1 
above. After accounting for projected revenues from non- member entities, 
the Board shall determine the deficit, if any, to be covered by member-entity 
contributions. 

 
 

5.2.3 Member Contributions. The deficit to be covered by member-entity 
contributions in section 5.2.2 shall be modified on an annual basis, and 
apportioned among the participating entities based on calls of service 
volume for the prior calendar year. 

 

 
s 



6  

• City or Truth or Consequences 

Percentage based on proportionate utilization of calls for service 

• County of Sierra 

Percentage based on proportionate utilization of calls for service 

• Village of Williamsburg 

Percentage based on proportionate utilization of calls for service 

• City of Elephant Butte 

Percentage based on proportionate utilization of calls for service 

• Sierra Vista Hospital 

Percentage based on proportionate utilization of calls for service 

 
Each respective entity shall pay its portion on a quarterly basis. 

 
5.2.4 Budget Components. The budget shall follow the format prescribed by the 

New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration. Expenditure line 
items that are to be reimbursed or otherwise paid for with grant funds shall 
specifically identify the funding source and corresponding revenue line 
item. The budget shall include a line item for reserve funds in such amount 
as may be required by the Department of Finance and Administration, but 
in no event less than one-twelfth of the total expenditure budget. 

 
5.3 Operating funds of SCRDA shall be held in a separate fund by the fiscal 

agent. All funds received pursuant to the Enhanced 911 Act shall be utilized 
and maintained as set out in the Act. 

5.4 Each member-entity shall be responsible for budgeting and approving its 
allocated share of SCRDA projected budget, consistent with any 
limitations imposed by the Bateman Act, NMSA 1978, 6-6-11. 

 
5.5 No Party to this agreement shall have any liability to pay for any debt or 

other obligation incurred by SCRDA unless there is a specific written 
agreement to do so accompanied by an appropriation approved with the 
requisite formalities. 



1  

5.6 Any funds received from the parties to this agreement by SCRDA in excess 
of its actual annual expenses shall be placed in SCRDA's reserve fund. 
SCRDA Board shall be strictly accountable and responsible through its 
Director for the proper expenditure of all public funds. 

 
5.7 SCRDA shall use funds provided pursuant to this JPA solely for the uses set 

forth herein. 
 

5.8 In the event of an emergency where monies will need to be made available 
to SCRDA and the expended amounts are subject to reimbursement 
according to the Enhanced 911 Grant, the fiscal agent may provide the 
required funding upon approval of SCRDA Board and the Governing Board 
of the fiscal agent, to be reimbursed from the Grant upon receipt of the Grant 
funds. 

 
5.9   The SCRDA Board and the Fiscal Agent will develop a "Standard 

Operating Guideline" for the payment of all monetary obligations 
incurred by SCRDA. 

 
5.10 Budget adjustments to accept grant or other non-entity funds will be 

approved by SCRDA Board and do not require approval of the entities. 
 

5.11 Budget adjustments to reduce expenses due to non-receipt of funding 
from any sources will be approved by SCRDA Board and do not require 
approval of the entities. 

6.0 EQUIPMENT 
 

6.1 SCRDA will make and maintain an inventory of all radio and other 
equipment owned by SCRDA. The inventory shall include the source(s) 
of funding for each piece of equipment over $5,000 in value and all 
equipment purchased using grant funds. 

 
6.2 Upon this JPA's expiration or termination, if there is no follow-on PSAP, 

equipment funded by grants will be distributed as required by the 
grant/granting authority. Equipment purchased by SCRDA funds will be 
distributed in proportion to each governmental entity's contribution for the 
prior fiscal year. With the exception of revenue from the County's 
Emergency Communications Gross Receipts Tax, non-grant funds in 
SCRDA's possession will be distributed in proportion to each governmental 
entity's contribution for the prior fiscal year. The County's Emergency 
Communications Gross Receipts Tax will be returned to the County alone. 



8  

If there is a follow-on PSAP, equipment will be distributed to the follow-on 
PSAP. 

 
7.0 BOOKS AND RECORDS 

 
7.1 SCRDA shall maintain adequate and correct accounts of its funds, 

properties and business transactions, said accounts shall be open to 
inspection at any reasonable time by the parties hereto, their accountants 
or their agents. SCRDA shall cause an annual audit to be conducted, and 
the audit shall be conducted by their fiscal agent, approved by the State 
auditor. SCRDA shall submit a copy of said audit to each of the parties. 

 
7.2 Within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, SCRDA shall prepare 

and present to the parties a comprehensive annual report of the 
SCRDA's activities and finances during the preceding year. On a 
quarterly basis, SCRDA shall prepare and present to the respective 
jurisdictional boundaries and law enforcement agencies a listing of 
activities by category of calls received. 

 
7.3 The SCRDA Director shall prepare and present such other reports as may 

be required by law, regulation or contract to any authorized governmental 
agency. 

 
7.4  Because the operating records of SCRDA are subject to the Inspection of 

Public Records Act (NMSA 14-2-1 et. seq.), SCRDA Board will designate 
the custodian of records for SCRDA. 

 
8.0 TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT AND WITHDRAWAL OF MEMBER 

ENTITIES. 
 

8.1 This Agreement will become effective upon the later of approval by the 
party entities and by the Department of Finance and Administration. The 
term of this Agreement shall be perpetual, unless terminated sooner as 
herein provided. 

 
8.2 This agreement may be terminated at any time by agreement of all of the 

member entities, or by withdrawal of all the member entities. 
 

8.3 A member entity may withdraw from its participation in this JPA at any 
time upon approval of the Local Government Division of the Department of 
Finance and Administration. A withdrawing member entity shall be 
responsible for its share of the budget through the end of the then-current 
fiscal year. Pursuant to the State Regulation and any change in provisions 
must be with another PSAP. Except as otherwise provided upon the 
dissolution of SCRDA or as otherwise agreed by the member entities, a 



9  

withdrawing member entity is not entitled to any equipment or funds 
provided within SCRDA. This JPA shall continue in full force and effect 
upon withdrawal of one or more member entities, provided that the 
remaining member entities shall amend such terms and conditions of this 
JPA as are necessary to affect its purposes. 

 
8.4 If any provision of this Agreement is subsequently held to be invalid or 

unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this 
Agreement shall not be affected thereby and the remaining provisions of 
this Agreement would continue in full force and effect, unless the fulfillment 
of the purpose of the Agreement is rendered impracticable. 

9.0 AMENDMENTS 
 

9.1 Any entity of this agreement may propose an amendment to this agreement. 
This agreement may be reviewed and or amended by the entities from time 
to time. Any agreement must be in writing by all parties to this Agreement 
and requires approval of the Department of Finance and Administration. 

10.0 LIABILITY PROVISION 
 

10.1 No party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of another 
party's acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. Any liability 
incurred as a result of this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act and Enhanced 911 Act. 

In accordance with NMSA 1978, Sections 11-1-5 (1961), it is expressly 
declared that SCRDA is a separate and independent legal entity from 
the City of Truth or Consequences, County of Sierra, City of Elephant 
Butte and the Village of Williamsburg, which are the entities that make 
up the JPA. The members of SCRDA Board, its officers, and members 
of the JPA shall not be personally held liable for any acts performed or 
omitted in good faith by any SCRDA employee. 

 
Any privileges and immunities from liability, exemptions from laws, 
ordinances and rules, all pension, relief, disability, workers' compensation 
and other benefits which apply to the activity of officers, agents or 
employees of any of the parties to this Agreement when performing their 
respective functions within the territorial limits of their respective public 
agencies, shall apply to them to the same extent while engaged in the 
performance of any of their functions and duties extraterritorially under the 
provisions of the Joint Powers Agreements Act, Sections 11-1-1 to 11- 1-7, 
NMSA 1978. 



10  

10.2 INSURANCE- LIABILITY 
 

SCRDA shall obtain insurance to cover any suit that may be brought against 
SCRDA. All liability insurance policies shall list the City of Truth or 
Consequences, the Village of Williamsburg, the County of Sierra and the 
City of Elephant Butte as additional insureds. SCRDA shall fully and 
completely defend, save and hold harmless the City of Truth or 
Consequences, the Village of Williamsburg, the County of Sierra and the 
City of Elephant Butte and the members of each such governing body, 
individually and in their official capacities, from all costs, expenses, and 
judgments, all claims, actions and proceedings arising from or relating to 
the activities of the SCRDA. SCRDA shall annually provide each 
participating entity with copies of satisfactory documentation of such 
insurance coverage, naming each such entity an additional insured. 

11.0 APPROPRIATIONS 
 

11.1 Performance under this Agreement is contingent upon sufficient authority 
and appropriations granted by the New Mexico State Legislature and each 
governing body. 

 
 

12.0 GOVERNING LAW 
 

12.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New 
Mexico. 



11  

SIGNATURES: 

 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED ON THIS_____Day of______________,2025 

 

BOARD OF SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 

__________________________________ 

TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSION CHAIR 

 

 

________________________________ 

JAMES PAXON, COMMISSION VICE CHAR 

 

 

________________________________ 

HANK HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 

 

 

ATTEST BY: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK 

 

 

 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED ON THIS_____Day of______________,2025 

 

CITY OF TRUTH OR CONCEQUENCES 

 

BY: _________________________________ 

       GARY WHITEHEAD, CITY MANAGER 

 

 

ATTEST: _____________________________ 

                 ANGELA A. TORRES, CITY CLERK 

 

DATE: ___________________ 

 

 

 



12  

 

 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED ON THIS_____Day of______________,2025 

CITY OF ELEPHANT BUTTE 

 

BY: __________________________ 

        PHILLIP MORTENSEN, CITY MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: ______________________ 

                 LINDSEY COLEIGH, CITY CLERK 

 

 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED ON THIS_____Day of______________,2025 

VILLAGE OF WILLIAMSBURG 

 

BY: _____________________________ 

       DEB STUBBLEFIELD, VILLAGE MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: __________________________ 

                  AMANDA B. CARDONA, VILLAGE CLERK 

 

DATE: ____________________________ 

 

 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

 

BY: _________________________________ 

        DFA LOCAL GOVERNMENT DIVISION 

 

DATE: _____________________________ 

 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  2025-47 

 
PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND PROGRAM AND REQUEST FOR 

MATCH WAIVER ADMINISTERED BY NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
CONTROL NUMBER L100647 (CAP) 

 
WHEREAS, Sierra County and the New Mexico Department of Transportation (NMDOT) have 

entered into a cooperative grant agreement under the Local Government Road Fund (LGRF) Program for a 
local road project. 

 
WHEREAS, the total cost of the project will be $186,339 to be funded in proportional share by the 

parties hereto as follows: 
a) NMDOT share shall be 75% or $139,754, and 
b) Sierra County’s proportional matching share shall be 25% or $46,585 if hardship for Match Waiver 

is not deemed to be present by the Department of Finance and Administration and the Department 
of Transportation. 

c) Total Project Cost is $186,339. 
 

WHEREAS, Sierra County shall pay all costs, which exceed the total project cost of $186,339.  
 
WHEREAS, Sierra County has a limited tax base, which limits the funding for meeting the 

proportional matching share; and a fund exists in the NMDOT appropriation by the New Mexico State 
Legislature for public entities in need of “hardship” match money and Sierra County requests participation in 
this Match Waiver Program in the amount of $46,585. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved in official session that Sierra County determines, resolves, and 

orders as follows:  
d) The project for this Cooperative Agreement is adopted and has priority standing. 

 
e) The Cooperative Agreement terminates on 12/31/2026 and Sierra County incorporates all the 

agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties hereto concerning the subject 
matter hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings have been merged into the 
written agreement. 
 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



f) The agent of Sierra County, Amber Vaughn, County Manager, shall have signature authority to 
bind Sierra County to the terms and conditions of this Cooperative Agreement, and shall have 
authority to request in writing and secure extensions to the Cooperative Agreement on behalf of 
Sierra County in the manner set forth by the Cooperative Agreement. 

  
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by Sierra County to enter into Cooperative Agreement for Project 

Control Number L100647 with the NMDOT for the LGRF Program for fiscal year 2026 for Various County 
Roads - Pavement Rehabilitation/ Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, Blading & 
Shaping, Miscellaneous, and Construction Management of County roads, within the control of Sierra County 
in the State of New Mexico. 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 24th DAY OF JUNE 2025. 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
    ____________________________ 
ATTEST:    TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
    ____________________________ 
    HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK  JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 





 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 2 of 10 FY2026 

 

b. The Public Entity shall pay all Project costs, which exceed the Total Project Cost. 
c. Any costs incurred by the Public Entity prior to this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement and are not included in the amount listed in this Section 2. 
 
3. The Department Shall:  

Pay the Department’s Share of Project Funding identified in Section 2, Paragraph a, to the 
Public Entity in a single lump sum payment after: 
a. Receipt of a cover letter requesting funds; 
b. Receipt of a Notice of Award and Notice to Proceed;  
c. Receipt of Estimated Summary of Costs and Quantities;  
d. Verification of available Local Government Road Funds and Public Entity’s local matching 

funds identified in Section 2, Paragraph a; and 
e. All required documents must include Department Project and Control Number. 

 
4. The Public Entity Shall: 

a. Act in the capacity of lead agency for the Project described in Section 1. 
b. Submit an estimate of the Project, including work to be performed and cost to the District 

Engineer within thirty (30) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, or as otherwise 
agreed to in writing by the parties. 

c. Be solely responsible for all proportional matching funds identified in Section 2.  Certify 
that these matching funds have been appropriated, budgeted, and approved for expenditure 
prior to execution of this Agreement.  

d. Pay all costs and perform and supply or contract for all labor and material, for the purpose 
as described in Section 1 and the Project estimate approved by the District Engineer. 

e. Procure and award any contract in accordance with applicable procurement law, rules, 
regulations and ordinances. 

f. In accordance with project parameters, assume the lead planning and implementation role 
and sole responsibility for environmental, archaeological, utility clearances; railroad and 
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) clearances; right-of-way acquisition; project 
development and design; and project construction and management. 

g. Cause all designs and plans to be performed under the direct supervision of a Registered 
New Mexico Professional Engineer, when applicable, as approved by the Department. 

h. Obtain all required written agreements or permits, as applicable, from all public and private 
entities. 

i. Allow the Department to inspect the Project to confirm that the Project is constructed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Disclosures of any failure to meet such 
requirements and standards as identified by the Department, will result in termination for 
default, including without limitation the Public Entity’s costs for funding, labor, equipment 
and materials. 

j. Complete the project within eighteen (18) months of approval of funding by the State 
Transportation Commission.   

k. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, provide written certification that all work 
under this Agreement was performed in accordance with either the New Mexico 
Department of Transportation’s Standard Specification, Current Edition; American Public 
Works Association (APWA) Specifications; Department approved Public Entity 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 3 of 10 FY2026 

established Specifications; or Department Specifications established for Local Government 
Road Fund projects, by submitting the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form, attached as Exhibit B.   

l. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, furnish the Department an AS BUILT 
Summary of Costs and Quantities form, attached as Exhibit C.  The report should reflect 
the total cost of the Project as stated in the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form.  

m. Failure to provide the Project Certification of Design, Construction, and Cost form and 
an AS BUILT Summary of Costs and Quantities report within thirty (30) calendar days 
of Project completion is a material breach of this Agreement and Public Entity shall 
reimburse to the Department all funds disbursed in accordance with this Agreement. 

n. Upon completion, maintain all Public Entity facilities that were constructed or 
reconstructed under this Agreement. 

 
5. Both Parties Agree: 

a. Upon termination of this Agreement any remaining property, materials, or equipment 
belonging to the Department will be accounted for and disposed of by the Public Entity as 
directed by the Department. 

b. Any unexpended or unencumbered balance from the Local Government Road Fund 
appropriated for this Project reverts to the Department.  These balances, if any, must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of project completion or 
expiration of this Agreement, whichever occurs first. 

c. This Project is not being incorporated into the State Highway System and the Department 
is not assuming maintenance responsibility or liability. 

d. Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 67-3-28.2, Local Government Road Funds granted under 
this provision cannot be used by the Public Entity to meet a required match under any other 
program.  

e. As applicable for state-funded projects, the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency 
(T/LPA) State Funding Handbook (Current Edition), and for projects with federal funds, 
the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency (T/LPA) Federal Funding Handbook 
(Current Edition), are incorporated by reference and control the contractual rights and 
obligations of the parties unless in conflict with the specific terms expressed in this 
Agreement or any amendments. 

 
6. Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all Parties.  The effective date is the date 
when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 
terminates on 12/31/2026.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the Public Entity 
shall provide through a duly authorized agent written notice along with detailed justification 
to the Department sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely 
processing of an Amendment. 

 
7. Termination.  

a. If the Public Entity fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the Department 
may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) calendar days written notice.  

b. The Department may terminate this Agreement if the funds identified in Section 2 have not 
been contractually committed within one year from the effective date of this Agreement. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 4 of 10 FY2026 

c. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made, this Agreement will terminate 
immediately upon written notice of the Department to the Public Entity.  

d. Neither party has any obligation after termination, except as stated in Sections 4, 5, and 16.  
 
8. Third Party Beneficiary.  

It is not intended by any of the provisions of this Agreement to create in the public or any 
member of the public a third party beneficiary or to authorize anyone not a party to the 
Agreement to maintain suit for wrongful death(s), bodily and/or personal injury(ies) to 
person(s), damage(s) to property(ies), and/or any other claim(s) whatsoever pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. Liability.  

As between the Department and Public Entity, neither party shall be responsible for liability 
incurred as a result of the other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. 
Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq., and 
other applicable law.  

 
10. Contractors Insurance Requirements.  

The Public Entity shall require contractors and subcontractors hired for the Project to have a 
general liability insurance policy, with limits of liability of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
The Department is to be named as an additional insured on the contractors and subcontractor’s 
policy and a certificate of insurance and endorsements listing the Department as an additional 
insured must be provided to the Department and must state that coverage provided under the 
policy is primary over any other valid insurance.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Public Entity shall require the contractor and 
subcontractors to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Department from and against any 
liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses (including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings) arising out of or resulting from the negligence, 
act, error, or omission of the contractor and subcontractor in the performance of the Project, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by the contractor or anyone for whose acts they are 
liable in the performance of the Project.  

 
11. Scope of Agreement. 

This Agreement incorporates agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties 
concerning the subject matter. All such covenants, agreements, and understandings have been 
merged into this Agreement. No prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the 
parties or their agents are valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement. 

 
 
12. Terms of this Agreement.  

The terms of this Agreement are lawful. Performance of all duties and obligations must 
conform with and not contravene any state, local, or federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
ordinances. 

 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 5 of 10 FY2026 

13. Legal Compliance. 
The Public Entity shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 
Department regulations and policies in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to laws governing civil rights, equal opportunity compliance, environmental issues, 
workplace safety, employer-employee relations and all other laws governing operations of the 
workplace. The Public Entity shall include the requirements of this Section 13 in each contract 
and subcontract at all tiers. 

 
14. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 

The parties agree to abide by all federal and state laws and rules and regulations, and executive 
orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment 
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders 
of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the parties agree to assure that no person in the 
United States will, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual 
preference, age, disability, or other protected class, be excluded from employment with, or 
participation in, any program or activity performed under this Agreement. If the Public Entity 
is found to not comply with these requirements during the term of this Agreement, the parties 
agree to take appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies, subject to Section 7 above. 

 
15. Appropriations and Authorizations. 

The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorizations 
being made by the governing board of the Public Entity, the Legislature of New Mexico, or 
the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, for performance of the 
Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made by the Public Entity, 
Legislature of New Mexico, or the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, 
this Agreement will terminate upon written notice being given by one party to the other. The 
Department and Public Entity are expressly not committed to expenditure of any funds until 
such time as they are programmed, budgeted, encumbered, and approved for expenditure. 

 
16. Accountability of Receipts and Disbursements. 

There shall be strict accountability for all receipts and disbursements relating to this 
Agreement. The Public Entity shall maintain all records and documents relative to the Project 
for a minimum of five years after completion of the Project.  The Public Entity shall furnish 
the Department and State Auditor, upon demand, any and all such records relevant to this 
Agreement.  If documentation is insufficient to support an audit by customarily accepted 
accounting practices, the expense supported by such insufficient documentation must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days.  If an audit finding determines 
that specific funding was inappropriate or not related to the Project, the Public Entity shall 
reimburse that portion to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of written 
notification.   

 
17. Severability. 

In the event that any portion of this Agreement is determined to be void, unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 6 of 10 FY2026 

18. Applicable Law. 
The laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern this Agreement, without giving effect to its 
choice of law provisions.  Venue is proper in a New Mexico Court of competent jurisdiction 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Section 38-3-1(G). 

 
19. Amendment. 

This Agreement may be altered, modified, or amended only by an instrument in writing 
executed by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 7 of 10 FY2026 

In witness whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that party’s 
signature.  
 
 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
 
 
By:_____________________________  Date: _______________ 
Cabinet Secretary or Designee 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 
Office of General Counsel 
 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 Assistant General Counsel 
 
 
Sierra County 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________ 
 Sierra County Clerk or Designee 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 8 of 10 FY2026 

EXHIBIT A 
PROJECT CERTIFICATION OF 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND COST 
 
TO: New Mexico Department of Transportation 
  District _____ LGRF Coordinator 
 
Cooperative Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
Joint Powers Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
 
Entity: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Scope of Work (Including Routes and Termini): 
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as ________________ of _____________________ state 
that: 
 
1. The design is in compliance with all state laws, rules, regulations, and local ordinances and 
was performed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement and in the 
Tribal/Local Public Agency State Funding Handbook (Current Edition); 
 
2. Construction of the project was performed in accordance with standards and specifications set 
forth in: 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 and completed on _____________________, 20_____; and 
3.   That the total project cost of __________________________, with New Mexico Department 
of Transportation 75% share of _____________________ and the Public Entity share of 
_________________________ (as submitted in attached “As Built Summary of Costs and 
Quantities”) is accurate, legitimate, and appropriate for the project. 
 
 
_________________________   ___________________________ 
Name         Date  
 
_________________________ 
Print Name 
 
_________________________ 
Title 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 9 of 10 FY2026 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 
 

AS BUILT SUMMARY 

OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES  
  CONTRACT     

 
ENTITY:   No.:   CN:     

       
PROJECT  No.:        
 
TERMINI:             

             

       
SCOPE OF       
WORK:             

             

       
              

ITEM ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT ESTIMATED FINAL UNIT FINAL 

NO.     QUANTITY QUANTITY COST COST 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             





 
 
 
 
 
 
June 24, 2025 
 
Mr. Aaron Chavarria, P.E., NMDOT District One Engineer 
C/O Gil Gallosa, LGRF Coordinator 
2912 E. Pine St. 
Deming, NM  88030 
 
Re: Request for LGRF Hardship Match Waiver 
 Control Number:  L100647 
 Scope of Work: Various County Roads - Pavement Rehabilitation/ Improvements, Reconstruction,  

  Drainage Improvements, Blading & Shaping, Miscellaneous, and Construction   
  Management of County roads 

 Total Amount: $186,339 
 Entity Share: $  46,585 
 State Share: $139,754 
 
Dear Mr. Chavarria; 
 
Sierra County is interested in applying for the LGRF Hardship Match Waiver per the NM Administrative Code 18 
NMAC 27.3.8 for our pending funding through the FY 2026 LGRF program. 
 
NMAC 27.3.8 allows Public Entities who are experiencing financial hardship to apply for a Match Waiver of all, or part 
of the Public Entity match normally required for participation in the Local Government Road Fund. 

 
Sierra County qualifies for the Match Waiver due to a limited tax base, which limits the funding for meeting the 
proportional matching share. 

 
Sierra County requests a Match Waiver in the amount of $46,585 for the LGRF Project for year 2026 to re-chip seal, 
fog seal, pothole and shoulder repair, drainage improvements, engineering & project management, cattleguard, and 
road surface work on various County roads to improve surface conditions within the control of Sierra County, New 
Mexico. More specifically, C047 Desertaire from NM 181 W approx. 6 mi, B116 Palomas Circle from NM 187 E 
approx. 1.8 mi, A039 Spaceport America Blvd from A013 E approx. 1.5 mi, C055 Alamosa Village from C054 W 
approx. 1.7 mi, and A025 Oil well from A026 S approximately 7.2 m. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
_____________________ 
Travis Day, Commissioner 
Sierra County, NM 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  2025-48 

 
PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND PROGRAM ADMINISTERED BY 

NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
CONTROL NUMBER L100643 (SB) 

 
WHEREAS, Sierra County and the New Mexico Department of Transportation have entered into a 

cooperative grant agreement under the Local Government Road Fund Program for a local road project. 
 
WHEREAS, the total cost of the project will be $230,189 to be funded in proportional share by the 

parties hereto as follows: 
 

CN L100643 
Project Funding 

Department 
Share 

Public Entity 
Share 

Total Project 
Cost 

Funding Source 1 75% 25% 100% 
FY 2026 Local Government Road Fund  
Pavement rehabilitation/ improvements, 
reconstruction, drainage improvements, 
blading & shaping, miscellaneous, construction 
management and design of county roads.  

$172,642 $57,547 $230,189 

 
WHEREAS, Sierra County shall pay all costs, which exceed the total project cost of $230,189.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved in official session that Sierra County determines, resolves, and 

orders as follows:  
a) The project for this Cooperative Agreement is adopted and has priority standing. 

 
b) The Cooperative Agreement terminates on 12/31/2026 and Sierra County incorporates all the 

agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties hereto concerning the subject 
matter hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings have been merged into the 
written agreement. 
 

c) The agent of Sierra County, Amber Vaughn, County Manager, shall have signature authority to 
bind Sierra County to the terms and conditions of this Cooperative Agreement, and shall have 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



authority to request in writing and secure extensions to the Cooperative Agreement on behalf of 
Sierra County in the manner set forth by the Cooperative Agreement. 

  
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by Sierra County to enter into Cooperative Agreement for Project 

Control Number L100643 with the New Mexico Department of Transportation for the LGRF Program for fiscal 
year 2026 for Various County Roads - Pavement Rehabilitation/ Improvements, Reconstruction, 
Drainage Improvements, Blading & Shaping, Miscellaneous, and Construction Management of 
County roads, within the control of Sierra County in the State of New Mexico. 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 24th DAY OF JUNE 2025. 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
    ____________________________ 
ATTEST:    TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
    ____________________________ 
    HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK  JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 





 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 2 of 10 FY2026 

 

b. The Public Entity shall pay all Project costs, which exceed the Total Project Cost. 
c. Any costs incurred by the Public Entity prior to this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement and are not included in the amount listed in this Section 2. 
 
3. The Department Shall:  

Pay the Department’s Share of Project Funding identified in Section 2, Paragraph a, to the 
Public Entity in a single lump sum payment after: 
a. Receipt of a cover letter requesting funds; 
b. Receipt of a Notice of Award and Notice to Proceed;  
c. Receipt of Estimated Summary of Costs and Quantities;  
d. Verification of available Local Government Road Funds and Public Entity’s local matching 

funds identified in Section 2, Paragraph a; and 
e. All required documents must include Department Project and Control Number. 

 
4. The Public Entity Shall: 

a. Act in the capacity of lead agency for the Project described in Section 1. 
b. Submit an estimate of the Project, including work to be performed and cost to the District 

Engineer within thirty (30) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, or as otherwise 
agreed to in writing by the parties. 

c. Be solely responsible for all proportional matching funds identified in Section 2.  Certify 
that these matching funds have been appropriated, budgeted, and approved for expenditure 
prior to execution of this Agreement.  

d. Pay all costs and perform and supply or contract for all labor and material, for the purpose 
as described in Section 1 and the Project estimate approved by the District Engineer. 

e. Procure and award any contract in accordance with applicable procurement law, rules, 
regulations and ordinances. 

f. In accordance with project parameters, assume the lead planning and implementation role 
and sole responsibility for environmental, archaeological, utility clearances; railroad and 
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) clearances; right-of-way acquisition; project 
development and design; and project construction and management. 

g. Cause all designs and plans to be performed under the direct supervision of a Registered 
New Mexico Professional Engineer, when applicable, as approved by the Department. 

h. Obtain all required written agreements or permits, as applicable, from all public and private 
entities. 

i. Allow the Department to inspect the Project to confirm that the Project is constructed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Disclosures of any failure to meet such 
requirements and standards as identified by the Department, will result in termination for 
default, including without limitation the Public Entity’s costs for funding, labor, equipment 
and materials. 

j. Complete the project within eighteen (18) months of approval of funding by the State 
Transportation Commission.   

k. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, provide written certification that all work 
under this Agreement was performed in accordance with either the New Mexico 
Department of Transportation’s Standard Specification, Current Edition; American Public 
Works Association (APWA) Specifications; Department approved Public Entity 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 3 of 10 FY2026 

established Specifications; or Department Specifications established for Local Government 
Road Fund projects, by submitting the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form, attached as Exhibit B.   

l. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, furnish the Department an AS BUILT 
Summary of Costs and Quantities form, attached as Exhibit C.  The report should reflect 
the total cost of the Project as stated in the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form.  

m. Failure to provide the Project Certification of Design, Construction, and Cost form and 
an AS BUILT Summary of Costs and Quantities report within thirty (30) calendar days 
of Project completion is a material breach of this Agreement and Public Entity shall 
reimburse to the Department all funds disbursed in accordance with this Agreement. 

n. Upon completion, maintain all Public Entity facilities that were constructed or 
reconstructed under this Agreement. 

 
5. Both Parties Agree: 

a. Upon termination of this Agreement any remaining property, materials, or equipment 
belonging to the Department will be accounted for and disposed of by the Public Entity as 
directed by the Department. 

b. Any unexpended or unencumbered balance from the Local Government Road Fund 
appropriated for this Project reverts to the Department.  These balances, if any, must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of project completion or 
expiration of this Agreement, whichever occurs first. 

c. This Project is not being incorporated into the State Highway System and the Department 
is not assuming maintenance responsibility or liability. 

d. Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 67-3-28.2, Local Government Road Funds granted under 
this provision cannot be used by the Public Entity to meet a required match under any other 
program.  

e. As applicable for state-funded projects, the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency 
(T/LPA) State Funding Handbook (Current Edition), and for projects with federal funds, 
the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency (T/LPA) Federal Funding Handbook 
(Current Edition), are incorporated by reference and control the contractual rights and 
obligations of the parties unless in conflict with the specific terms expressed in this 
Agreement or any amendments. 

 
6. Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all Parties.  The effective date is the date 
when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 
terminates on 12/31/2026.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the Public Entity 
shall provide through a duly authorized agent written notice along with detailed justification 
to the Department sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely 
processing of an Amendment. 

 
7. Termination.  

a. If the Public Entity fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the Department 
may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) calendar days written notice.  

b. The Department may terminate this Agreement if the funds identified in Section 2 have not 
been contractually committed within one year from the effective date of this Agreement. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 4 of 10 FY2026 

c. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made, this Agreement will terminate 
immediately upon written notice of the Department to the Public Entity.  

d. Neither party has any obligation after termination, except as stated in Sections 4, 5, and 16.  
 
8. Third Party Beneficiary.  

It is not intended by any of the provisions of this Agreement to create in the public or any 
member of the public a third party beneficiary or to authorize anyone not a party to the 
Agreement to maintain suit for wrongful death(s), bodily and/or personal injury(ies) to 
person(s), damage(s) to property(ies), and/or any other claim(s) whatsoever pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. Liability.  

As between the Department and Public Entity, neither party shall be responsible for liability 
incurred as a result of the other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. 
Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq., and 
other applicable law.  

 
10. Contractors Insurance Requirements.  

The Public Entity shall require contractors and subcontractors hired for the Project to have a 
general liability insurance policy, with limits of liability of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
The Department is to be named as an additional insured on the contractors and subcontractor’s 
policy and a certificate of insurance and endorsements listing the Department as an additional 
insured must be provided to the Department and must state that coverage provided under the 
policy is primary over any other valid insurance.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Public Entity shall require the contractor and 
subcontractors to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Department from and against any 
liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses (including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings) arising out of or resulting from the negligence, 
act, error, or omission of the contractor and subcontractor in the performance of the Project, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by the contractor or anyone for whose acts they are 
liable in the performance of the Project.  

 
11. Scope of Agreement. 

This Agreement incorporates agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties 
concerning the subject matter. All such covenants, agreements, and understandings have been 
merged into this Agreement. No prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the 
parties or their agents are valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement. 

 
 
12. Terms of this Agreement.  

The terms of this Agreement are lawful. Performance of all duties and obligations must 
conform with and not contravene any state, local, or federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
ordinances. 

 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 5 of 10 FY2026 

13. Legal Compliance. 
The Public Entity shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 
Department  regulations and policies in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to laws governing civil rights, equal opportunity compliance, environmental issues, 
workplace safety, employer-employee relations and all other laws governing operations of the 
workplace. The Public Entity shall include the requirements of this Section 13 in each contract 
and subcontract at all tiers. 

 
14. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 

The parties agree to abide by all federal and state laws and rules and regulations, and executive 
orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment 
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders 
of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the parties agree to assure that no person in the 
United States will, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual 
preference, age, disability, or other protected class, be excluded from employment with, or 
participation in, any program or activity performed under this Agreement. If the Public Entity 
is found to not comply with these requirements during the term of this Agreement, the parties 
agree to take appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies, subject to Section 7 above. 

 
15. Appropriations and Authorizations. 

The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorizations 
being made by the governing board of the Public Entity, the Legislature of New Mexico, or 
the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, for performance of the 
Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made by the Public Entity, 
Legislature of New Mexico, or the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, 
this Agreement will terminate upon written notice being given by one party to the other. The 
Department and Public Entity are expressly not committed to expenditure of any funds until 
such time as they are programmed, budgeted, encumbered, and approved for expenditure. 

 
16. Accountability of Receipts and Disbursements. 

There shall be strict accountability for all receipts and disbursements relating to this 
Agreement. The Public Entity shall maintain all records and documents relative to the Project 
for a minimum of five years after completion of the Project.  The Public Entity shall furnish 
the Department and State Auditor, upon demand, any and all such records relevant to this 
Agreement.  If documentation is insufficient to support an audit by customarily accepted 
accounting practices, the expense supported by such insufficient documentation must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days.  If an audit finding determines 
that specific funding was inappropriate or not related to the Project, the Public Entity shall 
reimburse that portion to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of written 
notification.   

 
17. Severability. 

In the event that any portion of this Agreement is determined to be void, unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 6 of 10 FY2026 

18. Applicable Law. 
The laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern this Agreement, without giving effect to its 
choice of law provisions.  Venue is proper in a New Mexico Court of competent jurisdiction 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Section 38-3-1(G). 

 
19. Amendment. 

This Agreement may be altered, modified, or amended only by an instrument in writing 
executed by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 7 of 10 FY2026 

In witness whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that party’s 
signature.  
 
 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
 
 
By:_____________________________  Date: _______________ 
Cabinet Secretary or Designee 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 
Office of General Counsel 
 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 Assistant General Counsel 
 
 
Sierra County 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________ 
 Sierra County Clerk or Designee 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 8 of 10 FY2026 

EXHIBIT A 
PROJECT CERTIFICATION OF 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND COST 
 
TO: New Mexico Department of Transportation 
  District _____ LGRF Coordinator 
 
Cooperative Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
Joint Powers Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
 
Entity: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Scope of Work (Including Routes and Termini): 
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as ________________ of _____________________ state 
that: 
 
1. The design is in compliance with all state laws, rules, regulations, and local ordinances and 
was performed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement and in the 
Tribal/Local Public Agency State Funding Handbook (Current Edition); 
 
2. Construction of the project was performed in accordance with standards and specifications set 
forth in: 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 and completed on _____________________, 20_____; and 
3.   That the total project cost of __________________________, with New Mexico Department 
of Transportation 75% share of _____________________ and the Public Entity share of 
_________________________ (as submitted in attached “As Built Summary of Costs and 
Quantities”) is accurate, legitimate, and appropriate for the project. 
 
 
_________________________   ___________________________ 
Name         Date  
 
_________________________ 
Print Name 
 
_________________________ 
Title 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 9 of 10 FY2026 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 
 

AS BUILT SUMMARY 

OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES  
  CONTRACT     

 
ENTITY:   No.:   CN:     

       
PROJECT  No.:        
 
TERMINI:             

             

       
SCOPE OF       
WORK:             

             

       
              

ITEM ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT ESTIMATED FINAL UNIT FINAL 

NO.     QUANTITY QUANTITY COST COST 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             





 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  2025-49 

 
PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND PROGRAM AND REQUEST FOR 

MATCH WAIVER ADMINISTERED BY NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
CONTROL NUMBER L100624 (SP) 

 
WHEREAS, Sierra County and the New Mexico Department of Transportation (NMDOT) have 

entered into a cooperative grant agreement under the Local Government Road Fund (LGRF) Program for a 
local road project. 

 
WHEREAS, the total cost of the project will be $182,877 to be funded in proportional share by the 

parties hereto as follows: 
a) NMDOT share shall be 75% or $137,158, and 
b) Sierra County’s proportional matching share shall be 25% or $45,719 if hardship for Match Waiver 

is not deemed to be present by the Department of Finance and Administration and the Department 
of Transportation. 

c) Total Project Cost is $182,877. 
 

WHEREAS, Sierra County shall pay all costs, which exceed the total project cost of $182,877.  
 
WHEREAS, Sierra County has a limited tax base, which limits the funding for meeting the 

proportional matching share; and a fund exists in the NMDOT appropriation by the New Mexico State 
Legislature for public entities in need of “hardship” match money and Sierra County requests participation in 
this Match Waiver Program in the amount of $45,719. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved in official session that Sierra County determines, resolves, and 

orders as follows:  
d) The project for this Cooperative Agreement is adopted and has priority standing. 

 
e) The Cooperative Agreement terminates on 12/31/2026 and Sierra County incorporates all the 

agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties hereto concerning the subject 
matter hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings have been merged into the 
written agreement. 
 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



f) The agent of Sierra County, Amber Vaughn, County Manager, shall have signature authority to 
bind Sierra County to the terms and conditions of this Cooperative Agreement, and shall have 
authority to request in writing and secure extensions to the Cooperative Agreement on behalf of 
Sierra County in the manner set forth by the Cooperative Agreement. 

  
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by Sierra County to enter into Cooperative Agreement for Project 

Control Number L100624 with the NMDOT for the LGRF Program for fiscal year 2026 for (C051) Lago, 
Lost Canyon Lease Lots, N Lost Canyon and (C028) Cattleman - pavement rehabilitation/ improvements, 
reconstruction, drainage improvements, blading & shaping, miscellaneous, construction management and 
design of County roads within the control of Sierra County in the State of New Mexico. 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 24th DAY OF JUNE 2025. 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
    ____________________________ 
ATTEST:    TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
    ____________________________ 
    HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK  JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 





 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 2 of 10 FY2026 

 

b. The Public Entity shall pay all Project costs, which exceed the Total Project Cost. 
c. Any costs incurred by the Public Entity prior to this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement and are not included in the amount listed in this Section 2. 
 
3. The Department Shall:  

Pay the Department’s Share of Project Funding identified in Section 2, Paragraph a, to the 
Public Entity in a single lump sum payment after: 
a. Receipt of a cover letter requesting funds; 
b. Receipt of a Notice of Award and Notice to Proceed;  
c. Receipt of Estimated Summary of Costs and Quantities;  
d. Verification of available Local Government Road Funds and Public Entity’s local matching 

funds identified in Section 2, Paragraph a; and 
e. All required documents must include Department Project and Control Number. 

 
4. The Public Entity Shall: 

a. Act in the capacity of lead agency for the Project described in Section 1. 
b. Submit an estimate of the Project, including work to be performed and cost to the District 

Engineer within thirty (30) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, or as otherwise 
agreed to in writing by the parties. 

c. Be solely responsible for all proportional matching funds identified in Section 2.  Certify 
that these matching funds have been appropriated, budgeted, and approved for expenditure 
prior to execution of this Agreement.  

d. Pay all costs and perform and supply or contract for all labor and material, for the purpose 
as described in Section 1 and the Project estimate approved by the District Engineer. 

e. Procure and award any contract in accordance with applicable procurement law, rules, 
regulations and ordinances. 

f. In accordance with project parameters, assume the lead planning and implementation role 
and sole responsibility for environmental, archaeological, utility clearances; railroad and 
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) clearances; right-of-way acquisition; project 
development and design; and project construction and management. 

g. Cause all designs and plans to be performed under the direct supervision of a Registered 
New Mexico Professional Engineer, when applicable, as approved by the Department. 

h. Obtain all required written agreements or permits, as applicable, from all public and private 
entities. 

i. Allow the Department to inspect the Project to confirm that the Project is constructed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Disclosures of any failure to meet such 
requirements and standards as identified by the Department will result in termination for 
default, including without limitation the Public Entity’s costs for funding, labor, equipment 
and materials. 

j. Complete the project within eighteen (18) months of approval of funding by the State 
Transportation Commission.   

k. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, provide written certification that all work 
under this Agreement was performed in accordance with either the New Mexico 
Department of Transportation’s Standard Specification, Current Edition; American Public 
Works Association (APWA) Specifications; Department approved Public Entity 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 3 of 10 FY2026 

established Specifications; or Department Specifications established for Local Government 
Road Fund projects, by submitting the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form, attached as Exhibit B.   

l. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, furnish the Department an AS BUILT 
Summary of Costs and Quantities form, attached as Exhibit C.  The report should reflect 
the total cost of the Project as stated in the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form.  

m. Failure to provide the Project Certification of Design, Construction, and Cost form and 
an AS BUILT Summary of Costs and Quantities report within thirty (30) calendar days 
of Project completion is a material breach of this Agreement and Public Entity shall 
reimburse to the Department all funds disbursed in accordance with this Agreement. 

n. Upon completion, maintain all Public Entity facilities that were constructed or 
reconstructed under this Agreement. 

 
5.   Both Parties Agree: 

a. Upon termination of this Agreement any remaining property, materials, or equipment 
belonging to the Department will be accounted for and disposed of by the Public Entity as 
directed by the Department. 

b. Any unexpended or unencumbered balance from the Local Government Road Fund 
appropriated for this Project reverts to the Department.  These balances, if any, must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of project completion or 
expiration of this Agreement, whichever occurs first. 

c. This Project is not being incorporated into the State Highway System and the Department 
is not assuming maintenance responsibility or liability. 

d. Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 67-3-28.2, Local Government Road Funds granted under 
this provision cannot be used by the Public Entity to meet a required match under any other 
program.  

e. As applicable for state-funded projects, the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency 
(T/LPA) State Funding Handbook (Current Edition), and for projects with federal funds, 
the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency (T/LPA) Federal Funding Handbook 
(Current Edition), are incorporated by reference and control the contractual rights and 
obligations of the parties unless in conflict with the specific terms expressed in this 
Agreement or any amendments. 

 
6. Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all Parties.  The effective date is the date 
when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 
terminates on 12/31/2026.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the Public Entity 
shall provide through a duly authorized agent written notice along with detailed justification 
to the Department sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely 
processing of an Amendment. 

 
7. Termination.  

a. If the Public Entity fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the Department 
may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) calendar days written notice.  

b. The Department may terminate this Agreement if the funds identified in Section 2 have not 
been contractually committed within one year from the effective date of this Agreement. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 4 of 10 FY2026 

c. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made, this Agreement will terminate 
immediately upon written notice of the Department to the Public Entity.  

d. Neither party has any obligation after termination, except as stated in Sections 4, 5, and 16.  
 
8. Third Party Beneficiary.  

It is not intended by any of the provisions of this Agreement to create in the public or any 
member of the public a third party beneficiary or to authorize anyone not a party to the 
Agreement to maintain suit for wrongful death(s), bodily and/or personal injury(ies) to 
person(s), damage(s) to property(ies), and/or any other claim(s) whatsoever pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. Liability.  

As between the Department and Public Entity, neither party shall be responsible for liability 
incurred as a result of the other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. 
Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq., and 
other applicable law.  

 
10. Contractors Insurance Requirements.  

The Public Entity shall require contractors and subcontractors hired for the Project to have a 
general liability insurance policy, with limits of liability of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
The Department is to be named as an additional insured on the contractors and subcontractor’s 
policy and a certificate of insurance and endorsements listing the Department as an additional 
insured must be provided to the Department and must state that coverage provided under the 
policy is primary over any other valid insurance.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Public Entity shall require the contractor and 
subcontractors to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Department from and against any 
liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses (including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings) arising out of or resulting from the negligence, 
act, error, or omission of the contractor and subcontractor in the performance of the Project, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by the contractor or anyone for whose acts they are 
liable in the performance of the Project.  

 
11. Scope of Agreement. 

This Agreement incorporates agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties 
concerning the subject matter. All such covenants, agreements, and understandings have been 
merged into this Agreement. No prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the 
parties or their agents are valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement. 

 
 
12. Terms of this Agreement.  

The terms of this Agreement are lawful. Performance of all duties and obligations must 
conform with and not contravene any state, local, or federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
ordinances. 

 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 5 of 10 FY2026 

13. Legal Compliance. 
The Public Entity shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 
Department  regulations and policies in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to laws governing civil rights, equal opportunity compliance, environmental issues, 
workplace safety, employer-employee relations and all other laws governing operations of the 
workplace. The Public Entity shall include the requirements of this Section 13 in each contract 
and subcontract at all tiers. 

 
14. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 

The parties agree to abide by all federal and state laws and rules and regulations, and executive 
orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment 
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders 
of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the parties agree to assure that no person in the 
United States will, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual 
preference, age, disability, or other protected class, be excluded from employment with, or 
participation in, any program or activity performed under this Agreement. If the Public Entity 
is found to not comply with these requirements during the term of this Agreement, the parties 
agree to take appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies, subject to Section 7 above. 

 
15. Appropriations and Authorizations. 

The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorizations 
being made by the governing board of the Public Entity, the Legislature of New Mexico, or 
the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, for performance of the 
Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made by the Public Entity, 
Legislature of New Mexico, or the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, 
this Agreement will terminate upon written notice being given by one party to the other. The 
Department and Public Entity are expressly not committed to the expenditure of any funds 
until such time as they are programmed, budgeted, encumbered, and approved for expenditure. 

 
16. Accountability of Receipts and Disbursements. 

There shall be strict accountability for all receipts and disbursements relating to this 
Agreement. The Public Entity shall maintain all records and documents relative to the Project 
for a minimum of five years after completion of the Project.  The Public Entity shall furnish 
the Department and State Auditor, upon demand, any and all such records relevant to this 
Agreement.  If documentation is insufficient to support an audit by customarily accepted 
accounting practices, the expense supported by such insufficient documentation must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days.  If an audit finding determines 
that specific funding was inappropriate or not related to the Project, the Public Entity shall 
reimburse that portion to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of written 
notification.   

 
17. Severability. 

In the event that any portion of this Agreement is determined to be void, unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 6 of 10 FY2026 

18. Applicable Law. 
The laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern this Agreement, without giving effect to its 
choice of law provisions.  Venue is proper in a New Mexico Court of competent jurisdiction 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Section 38-3-1(G). 

 
19. Amendment. 

This Agreement may be altered, modified, or amended only by an instrument in writing 
executed by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 7 of 10 FY2026 

In witness whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that party’s 
signature.  
 
 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
 
 
By:_____________________________  Date: _______________ 
Cabinet Secretary or Designee 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 
Office of General Counsel 
 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 Assistant General Counsel 
 
 
Sierra County 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________ 
 Sierra County Clerk or Designee 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 8 of 10 FY2026 

EXHIBIT A 
PROJECT CERTIFICATION OF 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND COST 
 
TO: New Mexico Department of Transportation 
  District _____ LGRF Coordinator 
 
Cooperative Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
Joint Powers Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
 
Entity: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Scope of Work (Including Routes and Termini): 
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as ________________ of _____________________ state 
that: 
 
1. The design is in compliance with all state laws, rules, regulations, and local ordinances and 
was performed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement and in the 
Tribal/Local Public Agency State Funding Handbook (Current Edition); 
 
2. Construction of the project was performed in accordance with standards and specifications set 
forth in: 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 and completed on _____________________, 20_____; and 
3.   That the total project cost of __________________________, with New Mexico Department 
of Transportation 75% share of _____________________ and the Public Entity share of 
_________________________ (as submitted in attached “As Built Summary of Costs and 
Quantities”) is accurate, legitimate, and appropriate for the project. 
 
 
_________________________   ___________________________ 
Name         Date  
 
_________________________ 
Print Name 
 
_________________________ 
Title 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 9 of 10 FY2026 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 
 

AS BUILT SUMMARY 

OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES  
  CONTRACT     

 
ENTITY:   No.:   CN:     

       
PROJECT  No.:        
 
TERMINI:             

             

       
SCOPE OF       
WORK:             

             

       
              

ITEM ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT ESTIMATED FINAL UNIT FINAL 

NO.     QUANTITY QUANTITY COST COST 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             





 
 
 
 
 
 
June 24, 2025 
 
Mr. Aaron Chavarria, P.E., NMDOT District One Engineer 
C/O Gil Gallosa, LGRF Coordinator 
2912 E. Pine St. 
Deming, NM  88030 
 
Re: Request for LGRF Hardship Match Waiver 
 Control Number:  L100624 
 Scope of Work: (C051) Lago, Lost Canyon Lease Lots, N Lost Canyon and (C028) Cattleman - Pavement  

  Rehabilitation/ Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, Blading &  
  Shaping, Miscellaneous, Construction Management and Design of County Roads 

 Total Amount: $182,877 
 Entity Share: $  45,719 
 State Share: $137,158 
 
Dear Mr. Chavarria; 
 
Sierra County is interested in applying for the LGRF Hardship Match Waiver per the NM Administrative Code 18 
NMAC 27.3.8 for our pending funding through the FY 2026 LGRF program. 
 
NMAC 27.3.8 allows Public Entities who are experiencing financial hardship to apply for a Match Waiver of all, or part 
of the Public Entity match normally required for participation in the Local Government Road Fund. 

 
Sierra County qualifies for the Match Waiver due to a limited tax base, which limits the funding for meeting the 
proportional matching share. 

 
Sierra County requests a Match Waiver in the amount of $45,719 for the LGRF Project for year 2026 to chip seal, re-
chip seal, fog seal, pothole and shoulder repair, engineering & project management, culvert, drainage improvements, 
and road surface work on various County roads to improve surface conditions within the control of Sierra County, 
New Mexico. More specifically, C051 Lago, Cross Canyon from C054 Rock canyon RD N approximately 1. 7 mi, 
Lease Lots; Lost Canyon from C054 Rock Canyon Rd. E approximately 1.0 mi., N. Lost Canyon from Lost Canyon 
Rd. N approximately 4 mi., C028 Cattleman from NM 181 E approximately 1.7 ml. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
_____________________ 
Travis Day, Commissioner 
Sierra County, NM 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



 
 

 
 

COUNTY OF SIERRA 
RESOLUTION № 2025-50 

 
ACCEPTING AND APPROVING THE FY 2023-24 AUDIT  

 
 WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of a regular 
meeting, duly published, at the Sierra County Administrative Offices, 1712 N. Date Street, Truth 
or Consequences, New Mexico 87901, on June 24, 2024; and,  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra exercises the 
powers of the County as a body politic and corporate pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-
1(1884); and,  

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1995) provides that Counties have the power 
to, “provide for the safety, preserve the health, promote the prosperity and improve the morals, 
order, comfort and convenience of any county or its inhabitants”; and, 

  WHEREAS, the County of Sierra is required by statute to contract with an independent 
auditor to perform the required annual audit for Fiscal Year End 2023; and, 
 
  WHEREAS, this audit has been completed per a letter issued by the Office of the State 
Auditor authorizing release of the FY 2022-23 audit; and, 
 
  WHEREAS, NMAC 2.2.2.10 (M)(4) provides in pertinent part that “{o}nce the audit 
report is officially released to the agency by the state auditor (by a release letter) and the required 
waiting period of five calendar days has passed, unless waived by the agency in writing, the audit 
report shall be presented by the IPA to a quorum of the governing authority of the agency at a 
meeting held in accordance with the Open Meetings Act, if applicable;” 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the governing body of Sierra County does 
hereby accept and approve the completed audit report and findings as indicated within this 
document.  
 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 24th day of June 2024. 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman 
Commissioner District 1 

 
 
_________________________ 
James E. Paxon, Vice Chairman 
Commissioner District 2 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner District 3 

ATTEST: 
 
_________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 

  
 
 

 
 
 



 

     SIERRA COUNTY      
 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-51 

     SUPPORTING THE INCORPORATION OF IVERMECTIN INTO LIVESTOCK AND WILDLIFE FEEDS 

TO COMBAT THE NEW WORLD SCREWWORM FLY 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of a regular meeting, 
duly published, at the Sierra County Administrative Offices, 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or 
Consequences, New Mexico 87901, on June 24, 2025; and, 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra exercises the powers of 
the County as a body politic and corporate pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-1 (1884); and, 

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1995) authorizes counties to “provide for the safety, 
preserve the health, promote the prosperity and improve the morals, order, comfort and 
convenience of any county or its inhabitants”; and, 

WHEREAS, the New World screwworm fly (Cochliomyia hominivorax) poses an imminent and 
severe threat to livestock, wildlife, and the economic stability of New Mexico counties, with 
expected arrival in the United States by July 2025 and expansion northward by the end of the 
summer; and, 

WHEREAS, New World screwworm infestations can affect livestock, wildlife, pets, birds, and in 
rare cases, humans, placing animal health, land values, and conservation gains at serious risk; and, 

WHEREAS, agriculture contributes nearly $45 billion to the New Mexico economy and supports 
over 2 million head of livestock, while rural economies also depend on wildlife conservation and 
hunting, which generate more than $3.2 billion annually and support over 29,000 jobs statewide; 
and, 

WHEREAS, current federal capacity to deploy the Sterile Insect Technique is insufficient, leaving 
macrocyclic lactones—such as Ivermectin—as the only viable defense; and, 

WHEREAS, feed manufacturers are prepared to incorporate Ivermectin dry premix into livestock 
and wildlife feeds but lack federal authorization from the FDA and USDA to access and utilize the 
needed formulation; and, 



WHEREAS, immediate federal leadership is required to approve, produce, and distribute 
Ivermectin premix and support other critical control measures. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra 
County, New Mexico supports the immediate incorporation of Ivermectin into livestock and 
wildlife feeds to prevent the spread of the New World screwworm fly. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board of County 
Commissioners of Sierra County, New Mexico calls upon the President of the United States and 
all appropriate federal and state officials to authorize emergency production and distribution of 
Ivermectin dry premix for livestock feed manufacturers and mobilize and retrofit federal or 
military facilities for rapid deployment of sterile screwworm fly production, and urges the the FDA 
and USDA to expedite emergency approval processes to enable swift and lawful access to the 
necessary compounds to protect New Mexico’s agriculture, environment, and rural economy. 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED this 24th day of June, 2025 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF SIERRA COUNTY 

 
______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman  
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
Attest: 
 
_________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 

 

 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-52 

A RESOLUTION RECOGNIZING SUGAR SAND ROAD AND BRIDGE AS A PUBLIC 
PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County met in a duly noticed, regular 
Commission meeting on June 24, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. in the Sierra County Administration 
Building, 1712 North Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901; and 

WHEREAS, the Sugar Sand Bridge was constructed in 1966 and has provided continuous public 
access for nearly 60 years, with uninterrupted public use since that time by ranchers, gold 
prospectors, and recreational users; and 

WHEREAS, the County has performed road grading and maintenance activities on what is now 
known as Sugar Sand Road (formerly Grijalva Road), and has included the road in its annual road 
maintenance maps submitted to NMDOT since at least 1996; and 

WHEREAS, under New Mexico law, a public prescriptive easement is established when a 
roadway has been used openly, continuously, and adversely for ten or more years by the public, 
without objection by the landowner.  Trigg v. Allemand, 95 N.M. 128, 1980-NMCA-151; and 

WHEREAS, long-standing public use, County maintenance, and public reliance on the road 
support recognition of a public easement.  Luevano v. Maestas, 1994-NMCA-051, ¶¶ 28–31); and 

WHEREAS, title research has not identified any formally recorded easement, but no objections 
to use or maintenance have been raised, and the use has not been permissive in nature; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners finds that recognition of a prescriptive 
easement is necessary to protect the public’s continued access and to ensure uninterrupted 
maintenance of the road and bridge infrastructure. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra 
County that the Sugar Sand Road and Bridge are hereby recognized as a public prescriptive 



easement, based on decades of uninterrupted public use, County maintenance, and the legal 
standards set forth by New Mexico case law. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that County staff are directed to take all 
necessary administrative actions to document this designation and ensure the continued 
maintenance and accessibility of the Sugar Sand Road and Bridge for lawful public use  

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 24th day of June, 2025. 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 
__________________________________            ______________________________________ 
              Travis Day, Chairman                                   James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
 

______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 

 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

( 



 

     SIERRA COUNTY     
 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-53 

ADOPTING THE FY 2026-2030 INFRASTRUCTURE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, met in a regular meeting on 
June 24, 2025, at 10:00 A.M. in the Sierra County Administration Office, 1712 N. Date Street, 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901; and,  

WHEREAS, the County of Sierra recognizes that the financing of public capital projects has 
become a major concern in New Mexico and nationally; and 

WHEREAS, in times of scarce resources, it is necessary to find new financing mechanism and 
maximize the use of existing resources; and 

WHEREAS, systematic capital improvement planning is an effective tool for communities to 
define their development needs, establish priorities and pursue concrete actions and strategies to 
achieve necessary project development; and 

WHEREAS, this process contributes to local and regional efforts in project identification and 
selection in short- and long-range capital planning efforts; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to submit this Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan to include 
the attached list of projects in the County's short and long-range capital planning efforts. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNTY OF SIERRA THAT: 

1. The County of Sierra has adopted the attached Infrastructure Capital      
 Improvement Plan for FY 2026-2030; and 

2. It is intended that the plan is a working document and is the first of many 
steps toward improving rational, long –range planning and budgeting for 
New Mexico’s infrastructure. 

3. This Resolution supersedes all previous resolutions relating to the 
Infrastructural Capital Improvements Plan. 

 



APPROVED, ADOPTED AND PASSED on this 24th day of June, 2025. 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman  
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 
 
 


	AGENDA
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. Regular Meeting-May 20th, 2025
	B. Special Meeting-June 10th, 2025

	CONSENT AGENDA
	A. Resolution No. 2025-45
	B. Resolution No. 2025-46
	C. Indigent Burial B2025-010
	D. Indigent Burial B2025-011
	E. Indigent Burial B2025-012
	F. Indigent Burial B2025-013

	BOARD OF FINANCE 
	A. May Reconciliation 

	OLD BUSINESS
	Amendment IGA Between Doña Ana County And Sierra County

	NEW BUISNESS
	A. Letter from Sierra County to Elephant Butte Regarding the Withdrawing from Sierra Vista Hospital JPA
	B.	Donation of 38 HP ProDesk Mini Desktop Computers from Lea County OEM to Sierra County OEM

	CONTRACTS-AGREEMENTS-PROCUREMENTS
	A.	Sierra County Fairgrounds Management Agreement
	B.	Work and Finance Plan between Sierra County and APHIS-WS
	C. Approval of Unauthorized Purchase: Registration Fee
	D.	Fiscal Agent Agreement Between Sierra County and The Sierra County Regional Dispatch Authority 
	E. Sierra County Regional Dispatch Authority JPA

	RESOLUTIONS-ORDINANCES-PROCLAMATIONS
	A. Resolution No. 2025-47 CAP 26 
	B. Resolution No. 2025-48 SB 26 
	C. Resolution No. 2025-49 SP 26 
	D.	Resolution No. 2025-50 Accepting and Approving the FY 2023-24 Audit
	E.	Resolution No. 2025-51 Supporting the Incorporation of Ivermectin into Livestock and Wildlife Feeds to Combat the New World Screwworm Fly
	F.	Resolution No. 2025-52 Recognizing Sugar Sand Road and Bridge as a Public Prescriptive Easement 
	G.	Resolution No. 2025-53 Adopting FY 2026-2030 Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan 


